Role of Biomolecule Cues in Alzheimer's disease

by

Tania Ismail

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Engineering (Bioengineering) in the University of Michigan-Dearborn 2017

Master's Thesis Committee:

Assistant Professor Mathumai Kanapathipillai, Chair Associate Professor Ya Sha Yi Associate Professor Gargi Ghosh

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Mathumai Kanapathipillai, for her continuous support, guidance, motivation, enthusiasm, and patience throughout my research endeavors. Also, I would like to thank the University of Michigan Dearborn department of Mechanical engineering for giving me such good laboratory environment to finish the experiments and the University of Michigan Microscope and Imaging facility for the assistance with TEM and confocal microscopy. Also, I would like to thank Dr. Gargi Ghosh and Dr. Ya Sha Yi for serving on my thesis committee. And I would like to thank the University of Michigan-Dearborn for financial support.

In addition, I would like to thank my friendly lab mates including Zhaolin Chen, Malak Nasser, Keerthi Nadimidla, and Swetaparna Mohanty, for their tolerance and assistance in my research activities.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends, especially my parents for their continuous care and love while I am focusing on the study.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii
List of Figures
Abstract
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Research Objectives
1.3 Thesis Organization
Chapter 2 Background and Literature Review
2.1 Alzheimer's Disease
2.2 Alzheimer's Disease-causing proteins7
2.2.1 Tau protein aggregation and AD7
2.2.2. Amyloid-beta and Alzheimer's disease
2.3. Extracellular biomolecules and Alzheimer's disease (AD)9
2.3.1 Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and AD9
2.3.2 Extracellular enzymes and AD10
2.3.3 CSF proteins and AD10
2.4. Therapeutic Approaches to treat tau and Aβ aggregation11
2.5. Methods11
2.5.1 Aggregates Formation 11
2.5.1.1 Aβ 1-42 aggregation11
2.5.1.2 Tau peptides aggregation
2.5.2 Nanoparticle preparation12
2.5.3 Characterization Techniques
2.5.3.1 Thioflavin T (ThT) fluorescence12
2.5.3.2 Thioflavin S (ThS) fluorescence
2.5.3.3 Turbidity13
2.5.3.4 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)13
2.5.3.5 Confocal Microscopy13

2.5.3.6 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)	13
2.5.3.7 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	14
2.5.3.8 Cell Assays	14
2.5.3.8.1 Cell viability	14
2.5.3.8.2 Oxidative Stress	14
2.5.3.8.4 Immunofluorescence	14
2.6 References	15
Chapter 3 Role of Glycosaminoglycans on Tau Peptides Aggregation	24
3.1 Introduction	24
3.2 Materials and Methods	25
3.2.1 Materials	25
3.2.2 ThS measurements	25
3.2.3 DLS	26
3.2.4 Turbidity	26
3.2.5 TEM	26
3.2.6 Cell toxicity assay	
3.2.7 GAGs surface coating and aggregation assays	
3.2.8 AFM	27
3.2.9 Statistical Analysis	27
3.3 Results	28
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 Conclusion	34
3.6 Acknowledgment	
3.7 References	
Chapter 4 Tau peptides and tau mutant protein aggregation inhibition by cationic polyer polyarginine	thyleneimine and37
4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	
4.3 Materials and Methods	
4.3.1 Materials	
4.3.2 Thioflavin S (ThS) fluorescence measurement	40
4.3.3 DLS	40

4.3.4 TEM	
4.3.5. Cell toxicity assay	40
4.3.6 Statistical Analysis	41
4.4 Results and Discussion	41
4.5 Conclusion	48
4.6 Acknowledgment	
4.7 References	49
Chapter 5 Role of extracellular enzymes on Alzheimer's peptides aggregation	52
5.1 Introduction	52
5.2 Materials and Methods	53
5.2.1 Materials	53
5.2.2 Stock Solutions Preparation	53
5.2.3 ThT Fluorescence Measurement	54
5.2.4 AFM	54
5.2.5 DCFH-DA assay	55
5.2.6 Cell toxicity assay	55
5.2.7 Immunofluorescence	56
5.2.8 Statistical Analysis	56
5.3 Results and Discussion	56
5.4 Conclusion	62
5.5 References	63
Chapter 6 Role of cerebral fluid proteins in abeta peptide aggregation	65
6.1 Introduction	65
6.2 Materials and Methods	67
6.2.1 Materials	67
6.2.2 Nanoparticles preparation	67
6.2.3 ThT	67
6.2.4 DLS	68
6.2.5 AFM	68
6.2.6 Nanoparticle binding assay	68
6.3 Results and discussion	69

6.4 Conclusion	73
6.5 Reference	73
Chapter 7 Conclusion	75
7.1. General Conclusions	75
7.2. Future directions	75

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Signaling from Aβ through Tau in AD6
Figure 2.2. Aggregation of Tau and Aβ proteins in AD
Figure 2.3. Formation of Aβ plaques in AD patients9
Figure 3.1. Tau peptides aggregation kinetics was studied with GAGs
Figure 3.2. Tau peptides aggregation kinetics was studied with and without GAGs
Figure 3.3. Dynamic light scattering measurements of the Tau N and V aggregates
Figure 3.4. TEM images of Tau N peptide aggregation in the presence of GAGs
Figure 3.5. AFM images of Tau N peptide aggregation in the presence of GAGs coated surfaces32
Figure 3.6. Tau N peptide aggregation with and without GAGs coated surfaces
Figure 3.7. Toxicity effect of Tau peptides aggregates with GAGs on SH-SY5Y cells
Figure 3.8. Effect of GAGs on SH-SY5Y cells viability
Figure 4.1. Schematic of the approach used
Figure 4.2. Tau N peptide aggregation kinetics with and without PEI and Arg42
Figure 4.3. Tau V peptide aggregation kinetics with and without PEI and Arg43
Figure 4.4. Scrambled peptides aggregation (ThS)43
Figure 4.5. TEM of tau peptides aggregation inhibition in the presence of PEI and Arg44
Figure 4.6. DLS measurements of the Tau N peptide aggregation with and without PEI45
Figure 4.7. Tau mutant protein aggregation inhibition studies (ThS, DLS & TEM)46
Figure 4.8. XTT assay using SH-SY5Y cells in the presence of PEI and Arg47
Figure 4.9. Tau N toxicity effect on SH-SY5Y cells47
Figure 5.1. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide aggregation57
Figure 5.2. Thioflavin-S fluorescence measurements of tau peptide aggregation kinetics
Figure 5.3. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide aggregation

Figure 5.4. Morphology of abeta peptide (45 µM)59
Figure 5.5. Effect of abeta induced oxidative stress on hBMVEC60
Figure 5.6. Blood brain barrier damage induced by abeta peptide (2 μ M) aggregation61
Figure 5.7. Assessment of toxicity effect of abeta peptide aggregates $(2 \ \mu M)$ 62
Figure 6.1. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation with and without Tf and HSA. The ThT measurements indicate the inhibitory potential of Tf and HSA
Figure 6.2. DLS measurements of abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and has70
Figure 6.3. Nanoparticle characterization (A) PLGA nanoparticle morphology observed by AFM. (B) Surface coating of PLGA nanoparticles with Tf or HSA, and size characterization by DLS71
Figure 6.4. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated nanoparticles
Figure 6.5. Confocal images of the supernatant of the abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated nanoparticles
Figure 6.6. AFM images of abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated nanoparticles

List of Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's Disease
Αβ	Amyloid-beta
NFTs	Neurofibrillary tangles
MT	Microtubules
PGs	Proteoglycans
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
Нер	Heparin
HS	Heparan Sulfate
DS	Dermatan Sulfate
HA	Hyaluronan
TG	Transglutaminase
LOX	Lysyl Oxidase
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
Tf	Transferrin
HSA	Human Serum Albumin

Abstract

The master's thesis study investigates the role of biomolecules in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's disease is caused by amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles. The major cause of amyloid plaques is the aggregation of 1-42 amino acid peptide (abeta) fragment of the amyloid precursor protein. Neurofibrillary tangles on the other hand, are caused predominantly by the aggregation of microtubule binding hexapeptide (VQIVYK) region of the tau protein. The plaques and tangles ultimately cause neuronal cell toxicity, leading to Alzheimer's disease. Several factors are known to cause abeta and tau aggregation. Here in this study, we investigate the effect of biomolecules on the aggregation formation of abeta and tau peptides, and test the potential of macromolecules, small molecules, and nanotherapeutics on the inhibition of abeta and tau peptides aggregation. The objective of the thesis study is achieved by investigating the role of (i) glycosaminoglycans (ii) extracellular enzymes transglutaminase and lysyl oxidase, and (iii) cerebral proteins transferrin and human albumin in Alzheimer's causing peptides abeta and tau aggregation and toxicity. Characterization tools used for this study include biochemical assays, transmission electron microscopy, confocal microscopy, atomic force microscopy, dynamic light scattering, and cellular assays. The thesis study reveals that, glycosaminoglycans, and extracellular enzymes promote the aggregation of tau and abeta peptides, while cerebral proteins prevent the aggregation. Further, results show that the effect of biomolecules mediated Alzheimer's peptide aggregation and could be inhibited in the presence of macromolecules, small molecules, and nanoformulated cerebral proteins.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurological disorder that causes dementia; it affects 10% of the population age over 60 [1-2]. It is characterized by the presence of two abnormal proteins; extracellular amyloid plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tau tangles in the brain [3-6]. Tau proteins consist of 441 amino acids with a microtubule binding region, that contains four repeated peptide units [7]. The hexapeptide repeats VQIVYK and VQIINK are found in the carboxyl region of the tau protein; they form beta sheets, aggregates, and fibril structure that resemble tau aggregation in vitro [8-11]. Amyloid- β (A β) is formed by cleavage of amyloid precursor protein (APP) by β -secretase and Υ -secretase that are deposited in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and blood [12]. The two main components of the A β peptide are A β (1-40) and A β (1-42) depending on their sequence.

Several factors contribute to Alzheimer's disease progression. Among them, extracellular biomolecules like glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and enzymes like transglutaminase (TG) and lysyl oxidase (LOX), HSA been shown to co-localize and promote A β aggregation by catalyzing the crosslinking of A β and tau proteins leading to AD [13-14]. On the other hand, some plasma and cerebrospinal fluid proteins like transferrin (Tf) and human serum albumin (HSA) has been known to bind to A β in blood to prevent the deposition of A β plaques in brain (15-16). Due to the critical role of abeta and tau aggregation in AD, over the years several therapeutic approaches have been used to inhibit tau and A β aggregations [17-19]. Approaches include the application of small

molecules components [20-21], macromolecules [22-24], ligands based nanoparticles [25-26], and A β vaccines [27].

Although previous studies report the role of biomolecules in Alzheimer's disease, Alzheimer's causing protein aggregation studies in the presence of biomolecules in vitro, hasn't been explored in detail yet. In this thesis study, role of biomolecules glycosaminoglycans, extracellular enzymes, and cerebral protein on Alzheimer's protein aggregation in vitro, is studied in detail. In addition, macromolecules, small molecules, and nanotechnological mediated therapeutic approaches for the inhibition of biomolecules mediated protein aggregation also studied briefly. The characterization tests that are used for this study include thioflavin-T and thioflavin-S, turbidity assays, dynamic light scattering, confocal microscopy, transmission electron microscopy, atomic force microscopy, and cellular assays. The thesis study could help new avenues for treating Alzheimer's by targeting the biomolecules that promote protein aggregation during the disease.

1.2 Research Objectives

The overall goal of the thesis study is to investigate the role of biomolecuels on Alzhimer's protein aggregation. The research objectives of this thesis are described in the following specific aims: **Specific Aim1:** Study the role of Glycosaminoglycans in Alzheimer's protein aggregation. **Specific Aim2:** Study the role of extracellular enzymes in Alzheimer's disease. **Specific Aim 3:** Study the role of cerebral proteins in Alzheimer's disease.

1.3 Thesis Organization

This thesis is organized into seven chapters. Chapter 2 is a general background of Alzheimer's disease and protein aggregation, as well as approaches used to characterize the aggregation. Potential drug therapeutics approaches for treating Alzheimer's are also briefly reviewed. The intention of the background is to provide the context for the motivation and goals of this work and

to include an outline of the specific objectives of this work. Chapter 3 investigates the role of glycosaminoglycans on tau peptide aggregation, and Chapter 4 is a paper published in biopolymers that addresses the effect of cationic polymers on tau aggregation. Chapter 5 is a study on the role of extracellular enzymes on Alzheimer's protein aggregation, while Chapter 6 investigates the role of cerebral proteins on abeta aggregation. Finally, Chapter 7 includes general conclusions and a summary of the contributions of this work, and future directions.

1.4 References

- 1. Ow, S.-Y. and Dunstan, D. E. (2014), A brief overview of amyloids and Alzheimer's disease. Protein Science, 23: 1315–1331.
- 2. Citron M (2004) Strategies for disease modification in Alzheimer's Disease. Nature Rev 5:677–685.
- Bitan, G., Kirkitadze, M. D., Lomakin, A., Vollers, S. S., Benedek, G. B. & Teplow, D. B. (2003) Amyloid beta -protein (Abeta) assembly: Abeta 40 and Abeta 42 oligomerize through distinct pathways, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100, 330-5.
- 4. Drake, J., Link, C. D. & Butterfield, D. A. (2003) Oxidative stress precedes fibrillar deposition of Alzheimer's disease amyloid beta-peptide (1-42) in a transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans model, Neurobiol Aging. 24, 415-20.
- 5. Chen, M. & Fernandez, H. L. (2001) Where do Alzheimer's plaques and tangles come from? Aging-induced protein degradation inefficiency, Front Biosci. 6, E1-E11.
- De-Paula, V. J., Radanovic, M., Diniz, B. S. & Forlenza, O. V. (2012) Alzheimer's disease, Subcell Biochem. 65, 329-52.
- Avila, J., Jimenez, J. S., Sayas, C. L., Bolos, M., Zabala, J. C., Rivas, G. & Hernandez, F. (2016) Tau Structures, Front Aging Neurosci. 8, 262.
- 8. von Bergen, M., Barghorn, S., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E. M. & Mandelkow, E. (2005) Tau aggregation is driven by a transition from random coil to beta sheet structure, Biochim Biophys Acta. **1739**, 158-66.
- 9. Mandelkow, E., von Bergen, M., Biernat, J. & Mandelkow, E. M. (2007) Structural principles of tau and the paired helical filaments of Alzheimer's disease, Brain Pathol. 17, 83-90.
- 10. Li, W. & Lee, V. M. (2006) Characterization of two VQIXXK motifs for tau fibrillization in vitro, Biochemistry. **45**, 15692-701.
- 11. Goux, W. J., Kopplin, L., Nguyen, A. D., Leak, K., Rutkofsky, M., Shanmuganandam, V. D., Sharma, D., Inouye, H. & Kirschner, D. A. (2004) The formation of straight and twisted filaments from short tau peptides, J Biol Chem. **279**, 26868-75.

- 12. De-Paula VJ, Radanovic M, Diniz BS, Forlenza OV. "Alzheimer's disease." *Subcell Biochem*. (2012), 65:329-52.
- Zhang, Ji, Yi-rong Ding, and Rui Wang. "Inhibition of Tissue Transglutaminase Promotes Aβ-Induced Apoptosis in SH-SY5Y Cells." *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica* 37.12 (2016): 1534– 1542. *PMC*. Web. 7 July 2017.
- Papy-Garcia, D., Christophe, M., Huynh, M. B., Fernando, S., Ludmilla, S., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E. & Raisman-Vozari, R. Glycosaminoglycans, protein aggregation and neurodegeneration, (2011) Curr Protein Pept Sci. 12, 258-68.
- Julijana Milojevic, Annie Raditsis, Giuseppe Melacini, Human Serum Albumin Inhibits A Fibrillization through a "Monomer-Competitor" Mechanism, Biophysical Journal, Volume 97, Issue 9, 2009, Pages 2585-2594, ISSN 0006-3495.
- 16. Raditsis, Annie V., Julijana Milojevic, and Giuseppe Melacini. "Aβ Association Inhibition by Transferrin." *Biophysical Journal*105.2 (2013): 473-80.
- 17. Nadimidla, K., Ismail, T., & Kanapathipillai, M. (2017). Tau peptides and tau mutant protein aggregation inhibition by cationic polyethyleneimine and polyarginine. Biopolymers 9, 107.
- Boutajangout, A. & Wisniewski, T. (2014) Tau-based therapeutic approaches for Alzheimer's disease - a mini-review, Gerontology. 60, 381-385.
- 19. Brunden, K. R., Ballatore, C., Crowe, A., Smith, A. B., 3rd, Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010) Tau-directed drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease.
- Mohamed, T., Hoang, T., Jelokhani-Niaraki, M. & Rao, P. P. (2013) Tau-derivedhexapeptide 306VQIVYK311 aggregation inhibitors: nitrocatechol moiety as a pharmacophore in drug design, ACS Chem Neurosci. 4, 1559-1570.
- 21. Mohamed, T. & Rao, P. P. (2011) Alzheimer's disease: emerging trends in small molecule therapies, Curr Med Chem. 18, 4299-4320.
- 22. Dammers, C., Yolcu, D., Kukuk, L., Willbold, D., Pickhardt, M., Mandelkow, E., Horn, A. H., Sticht, H., Malhis, M. N., Will, N., Schuster, J. & Funke, S. A. (2016) Selection and Characterization of Tau Binding -Enantiomeric Peptides with Potential for Therapy of Alzheimer Disease, PLoS One. 11, e0167432.
- 23. Matsuoka, Y., Jouroukhin, Y., Gray, A. J., Ma, L., Hirata-Fukae, C., Li, H. F., Feng, L., Lecanu, L., Walker, B. R., Planel, E., Arancio, O., Gozes, I. & Aisen, P. S. (2008) A neuronal microtubule-interacting agent, NAPVSIPQ, reduces tau pathology and enhances cognitive function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 325, 146-153.
- Sievers, S. A., Karanicolas, J., Chang, H. W., Zhao, A., Jiang, L., Zirafi, O., Stevens, J. T., Munch, J., Baker, D. & Eisenberg, D. (2011) Structure-based design of non-natural aminoacid inhibitors of amyloid fibril formation, Nature. 475, 96-100.
- 25. Brambilla D, Verpillot R, Le Droumaguet B, et al. (2012) PEGylated nanoparticles bind to and alter amyloid-beta peptide conformation: toward engineering of functional nanomedicines for Alzheimer's disease. ACS Nano 6: 5897-5908.

- 26. Cheng KK, Yeung CF, Ho SW, et al. (2013) Highly stabilized curcumin nanoparticles tested in an in vitro blood-brain barrier model and in Alzheimer's disease Tg2576 mice. Aaps j 15: 324-336.
- 27. Lambracht-Washington, D. & Rosenberg, R. N. (2013) Advances in the development of vaccines for Alzheimer's disease, *Discov Med.* 15, 319-26.

Chapter 2: Background and Literature Review

2.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that causes dementia because of the continuous neuronal loss in brain [1]. It was statistically shown that 35.6 million people have AD; also, this estimation is said to double every 20 years [1, 2]. The treatments for AD are limited, short-term, and expensive (\$604 billion in 2010) [3-7]. Moreover, the extracellular amyloid-beta (A β) plaques and intracellular hyperphosphorylated neurofibrillary tau tangles (NFTs) are the two hallmarks of AD [8, 9]. Also, the soluble building blocks of the A β and tau plaques and tangles respectively influence each other [10]. It was shown by experimental studies that injecting a mouse with A β into the brain increased the formation of tangles [11]. Another experiment conducted on mice with tau deficiency reveals that the effect of A β plaques was ameliorated, indicating the interplay between the two proteins [12]. Figure 2.1 depicts the signaling between abeta and tau.



Figure 2.1: Signaling from Aβ through Tau in AD [10]

2.2 Alzheimer's Disease-causing proteins

2.2.1 Tau protein aggregation and AD

Tau protein is composed of microtubules (MT) binding domain that hold the carboxy- terminal (C-terminal), the proline region, and the acidic amino acid region [13, 14]. The microtubules binding domain in the tau protein stabilizes microtubules in neurons of healthy people [13, 14]. Whereas in AD patients, tau proteins hyper phosphorylate, aggregate, and misfold into neurofibrillary tangles during AD [14, 15]. These aggregates destabilize microtubules, which lead to deficiency in the metabolism of the proteins and synaptic malfunctioning [16, 17]. NFTs can't be discarded and degraded by the neurons, so they will continuously come together and increase in the cytoplasm. It was proven that NFTs go through a specific pathway in AD patients [18-20]. First, tau proteins detach from MT for different reasons (phosphorylation, dephosphorylation, and tau gene mutation) [14]. Then, in the pretangle phase (pathogenic phase), tau proteins misfold and form nonfibrillary tau deposits (soluble). Additionally, these pretangles can't be detected by β sheet dyes [21-23]. The second phase is the NFT formation, tau proteins start to aggregate which will cause the dendrites to shrink (shorten). Neuronal cells can survive for years before they get completely affected by tau aggregation and die. Also, the number of NFTs is connected to the severity or level of AD (dementia) [24]. Lastly, the ghost tangles phase, where the tangles become extracellular after cell death of neurons and the neuronal abrasions become more visible [15, 24, 25]. Figure 2.2 illustrates the aggregation of tau and abeta during AD.



Figure 2.2: Aggregation of Tau and Aβ proteins in AD [25]

2.2.2. Amyloid-beta and Alzheimer's disease

Senile plaques found in the brain of AD patients are composed of 39-42 residues of A β peptides [26-28]. Normally, A β peptides are the products of amyloid β protein precursor (APP) metabolism reaction [29, 30]. Whereas in AD patients, APP is cleaved by β -secretase and Υ -secretase (proteolysis) which will increase the production of A β peptides [26, 27, 31-33]. Also, several beta fragments are generated during proteolysis process (A β 1-42 and A β 1-40), but it has shown that A β (1-42) peptides are found at higher concentrations in A β plaques [26, 34]. Then, A β peptides aggregate and fold into A β fibrils [35-37] that accumulate into A β plaques [38]. Furthermore, it was previously shown that A β fibrils are cytotoxic to cells [39, 40] and lead to neuronal disturbance (main cause of dementia) [37, 39, 41, 42]. Figure 2.3 illustrates the abeta formation in AD patients.



Figure 2.3: Formation of A β plaques in AD patients [43]

2.3. Extracellular biomolecules and Alzheimer's disease (AD)

2.3.1 Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and AD

Proteoglycans (PGs) are proteins that are composed of GAGs side chains [44]. GAGs are long, linear, and heterogeneous polysaccharides found in the extracellular matrix (ECM) [45]. There are several forms of GAGs depending on their structure and degree of sulfates. The major GAGs that are found to influence AD are: Heparan sulfate (HS), Heparin (Hep), Dermatan sulfate (DS), Chondroitin sulfate (CS) and Hyaluronan (HA) [46, 47]. Some functions of GAGs/PGs are maintaining homeostasis, balance growth factor activities, balance signal transduction, and help in cell-to-cell interactions [45, 48-50]. It was also proven that AD can be influenced by GAGs [51] by affecting tau protein aggregation [52] and A β peptide aggregation [53]. Sulfated GAGs share the same location of A β plaques, so it was proven that GAGs bind to A β to induce fibrilization [53-57]. Additionally, GAGs induce NFTs by increasing phosphorylation of tau (hyperphosphorylation) depending on the degree of sulfation [52, 53, 58]. It has been reported that tau assemble into filaments in the presence HS [59]; also, it was proved that tau changes are induced in the presence of Hep [60, 61].

2.3.2 Extracellular enzymes and AD

A β aggregation has been proven to be stabilized by several extracellular enzymes, including transglutaminase (TG) and lysyl oxidase (LOX) [62-64]. One of the most studied TG member of the calcium-activated enzymes is the tissue transglutaminase (tTG) that was proven to be associated with AD [65]. It was previously shown that tTG enzymes help neurofilaments proteins like A β [66], APP [67, 68], and tau [69, 70] in cross-liking the ECM during diseases [71-73]. They are found in different areas of the brain like the cytoplasm of neurons [74], the nuclei, and the ECM (where A β aggregation occur) [75]. LOX are copper dependent amine oxidase enzymes that convert generated enzyme aldehyde residues by catalyzing lysine side chains (amines) on the ECM proteins [76] mainly collagen and elastin [77, 78]. These ECM proteins especially collagen (heparan sulfate) are associated with A β aggregation and the development of senile plaques [79]. It was experimentally proven that LOX increased by 30% in AD patients [76].

2.3.3 CSF proteins and AD

AD detection is limited [80, 81]; it was suggested to study the biomarkers and proteins in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) to understand more the pathology of AD [82]. Some of these molecules are Transferrin (Tf) and Human Serum Albumin (HSA); it was proven that Tf and HSA inhibit A β aggregation [83-86]. Tf are iron transport proteins that are used for iron homeostasis [87]; any mutation or interference in iron homeostasis will lead to AD due to neurotoxicity [87, 88]. Additionally, HSA was shown to bind to 90-95% of A β in blood plasma [89] which proves that A β plaques are found in the exterior of the brain [90]. Also, it was experimentally proven that HSA doesn't bind to A β monomers, it selectively binds to A β fibrils (β -structures) [84].

2.4. Therapeutic Approaches to treat tau and Aβ aggregation

Several therapeutic approaches have been used to inhibit tau proteins and peptides aggregation [91-93]. One of the approaches used is using small molecules components that were shown to have anti-tau aggregation properties [94, 95]. Also, previous studies showed that cationic small molecules and urea inhibit tau aggregation [96-98]. Another approach proved to inhibit tau aggregation is using macromolecules [99-101]. Some already used macromolecules that affect tau aggregations are D-enantiomer peptide [101], eight amino acid peptide Davunetide [100], and D-amino acid inhibitor peptide [101]. One of the methods to treat AD is to inhibit the overproduction of A β to clear them from the brain. The clearance of A β peptides/aggregates from brain using anti-A β molecules is challenging due to the blood brain barrier (BBB). There are three previously tested approaches to target A β aggregation pathways. First approach was done using ligands that directly affect A β like PEG [102] and lipid [103] based nanoparticles. Another approach was tested using small molecules like curcumin, melatonin [104, 105], and A β vaccines [106]. Also, strategies to target APP or β -secretase and Υ -secretase enzymes have been investigated [107, 108].

2.5. Methods

2.5.1 Aggregates Formation

2.5.1.1 Aβ 1-42 aggregation

Each of the A β forms (aggregated, unaggregated, fibrils, plaques) has its own preparation method [109]. In this study, we aggregated A β by dissolving 0.5 mg in 250 µl HFIP. Then, the A β -HFIP solution was aliquoted into five vials (100 µg/vial) and kept in a chemical hold until HFIP completely evaporates. Then, the vials are stored at -20 °C until usage. The aggregation is either formed in PBS buffer or DMSO/10 mM HCl depending on the application.

2.5.1.2 Tau peptides aggregation

Tau peptides were first dissolved in water at 1 mM concentration, and stored at -20°C until usage. Tau aggregation was formed in MOPS buffer at pH 7. For the tau aggregation initiation, heparin is mainly used in the study.

2.5.2 Nanoparticle preparation

Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) is a biodegradable polymer used to develop polymeric nanoparticles [110]. It is widely used because of its characteristics; it is biodegradable, biocompatible, FDA approved, adaptable to different drug types [110]. First, the PLGA nanoparticle was formed by emulsion. Then the particles were surface modified with EDC/NHS chemistry to render protein functionalization. In this study, we coated Tf and HSA with PLGA-NP to inhibit A β 1-42 aggregation.

2.5.3 Characterization Techniques

2.5.3.1 Thioflavin T (ThT) fluorescence

ThT is a dye that fluoresce at 449 nm excitation and 482 nm emission when it binds to amyloid fibrils [111]. In our experiment ThtT was used to detect A β 1-42 fibrils under different conditions.

2.5.3.2 Thioflavin S (ThS) fluorescence

ThS is a benzothiazole dye that fluoresce at 440 nm/ 485 nm when bind to protein aggregation [112]. In our study, the ThS was used to detect tau aggregation in the presence and absence of GAGAs.

2.5.3.3 Turbidity

Turbidity is the effect of the incident beam by light scattering which can be measured directly (transmission) by using spectrophotometer/plate reader and indirectly static light scattering) [113]. Here, we measured tau peptide aggregation at 400 nm (absorption).

2.5.3.4 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

DLS instrument is used to predict the size of the samples. Dynamic light scattering detects the particle size in the nanometer range, by utilizing Brownian motion principles. We used it to predict the size of abeta, and tau aggregation with and without biomolecules, drugs, as well as to predict the size of nanoparticles.

2.5.3.5 Confocal Microscopy

Confocal microscopy uses special optical components to form high resolution and contrast images. We use it to image cells after immunofluorescence staining (zo-1 staining for A β 1-42 with TG, LOX, and B/LP), and for cellular uptake of nanoparticles characterization.

2.5.3.6 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)

AFM is a scanning force microscope that takes very-high-resolution images in an order of nanometer. In our study, we used AFM to image the topography of our samples tau proteins with and without GAGs, and A β 1-42 with the extracellular enzymes and the CSF proteins, by spotting them on a mica and imaging them in taping mode using a Hitachi AFM in the lab.

2.5.3.7 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

TEM is an electron microscopy technique that forms an image of the samples by transmitting a beam of electron through it. The samples were spotted on a holy carbon copper grid, and then stained with 2% phosphotungstic acid.

2.5.3.8 Cell Assays

2.5.3.8.1 Cell viability

Cell viability assay was performed using XTT assay to measure cell viability and metabolism. XTT measurements was used in all our studies is determined by, the formation of formazan dye by measuring the absorbance at 470 nm using a spectrophotometer, and then calculating the percentage of viability based on the difference in absorbance between control cells to that of cells treated with aggregates and drugs.

2.5.3.8.2 Oxidative Stress

The DCFH-DA assay is used to measure the oxidative stress associated with an increased production of reactive oxygen species. Severe oxidative stress can cause cellular death. Quantifying oxidative stress by 2,7-dichlorodihydrofluorescein (DCFH) based fluorescent probes has been widely reported [114, 115]. We studied oxidative stress of A β 1-42 peptides in presence of extracellular enzymes with and without small molecule drugs, at 485/535 nm excitation/emission.

2.5.3.8.4 Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence is used to detect the cellular markers due to changes and influences of the samples on the cells by utilizing antibody-antigen binding. The cells are stained with the cellular

target of interest with both primary and secondary antibodies with fluorescent dyes, and then

imaged using confocal microscope.

2.6 References

1. Ittner, L. M. & Gotz, J. (2011) Amyloid-beta and tau--a toxic pas de deux in Alzheimer's disease, Nat Rev Neurosci. 12, 65-72.

2. Prince, M., Bryce, R., Albanese, E., Wimo, A., Ribeiro, W. & Ferri, C. P. (2013) The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis, Alzheimers Dement. 9, 63-75 e2.

3. Citron, M. (2004) Strategies for disease modification in Alzheimer's disease, Nat Rev Neurosci. 5, 677-85.

4. Brunden, K. R., Trojanowski, J. Q. & Lee, V. M. (2009) Advances in tau-focused drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease and related tauopathies, Nat Rev Drug Discov. 8, 783-93.

5. Wimo, A., Jonsson, L., Bond, J., Prince, M., Winblad, B. & Alzheimer Disease, I. (2013) The worldwide economic impact of dementia 2010, Alzheimers Dement. 9, 1-11 e3.

6. Takeda, A., Loveman, E., Clegg, A., Kirby, J., Picot, J., Payne, E. & Green, C. (2006) A systematic review of the clinical effectiveness of donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine on cognition, quality of life and adverse events in Alzheimer's disease, Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 21, 17-28.

7. Raina, P., Santaguida, P., Ismaila, A., Patterson, C., Cowan, D., Levine, M., Booker, L. & Oremus, M. (2008) Effectiveness of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for treating dementia: evidence review for a clinical practice guideline, Ann Intern Med. 148, 379-97.

8. Querfurth, H. W. & LaFerla, F. M. (2010) Alzheimer's disease, N Engl J Med. 362, 329-44.

9. Finder, V. H. (2010) Alzheimer's disease: a general introduction and pathomechanism, J Alzheimers Dis. 22 Suppl 3, 5-19.

10. Bloom, G. S. (2014) Amyloid-beta and tau: the trigger and bullet in Alzheimer disease pathogenesis, JAMA Neurol. 71, 505-8.

11. Gotz, J., Chen, F., van Dorpe, J. & Nitsch, R. M. (2001) Formation of neurofibrillary tangles in P3011 tau transgenic mice induced by Abeta 42 fibrils, Science. 293, 1491-5.

12. Roberson, E. D., Scearce-Levie, K., Palop, J. J., Yan, F., Cheng, I. H., Wu, T., Gerstein, H., Yu, G. Q. & Mucke, L. (2007) Reducing endogenous tau ameliorates amyloid beta-induced deficits in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model, Science. 316, 750-4.

13. Lee, G., Neve, R. L. & Kosik, K. S. (1989) The microtubule binding domain of tau protein, Neuron. 2, 1615-24.

14. Ballatore, C., Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2007) Tau-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders, Nat Rev Neurosci. 8, 663-72.

15. Lee, H. G., Perry, G., Moreira, P. I., Garrett, M. R., Liu, Q., Zhu, X., Takeda, A., Nunomura, A. & Smith, M. A. (2005) Tau phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease: pathogen or protector?, Trends Mol Med. 11, 164-9.

16. Roy, S., Zhang, B., Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2005) Axonal transport defects: a common theme in neurodegenerative diseases, Acta Neuropathol. 109, 5-13.

17. Trojanowski, J. Q., Smith, A. B., Huryn, D. & Lee, V. M. (2005) Microtubule-stabilising drugs for therapy of Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders with axonal transport impairments, Expert Opin Pharmacother. 6, 683-6.

18. Kuret, J., Congdon, E. E., Li, G., Yin, H., Yu, X. & Zhong, Q. (2005) Evaluating triggers and enhancers of tau fibrillization, Microsc Res Tech. 67, 141-55.

19. Kuret, J., Chirita, C. N., Congdon, E. E., Kannanayakal, T., Li, G., Necula, M., Yin, H. & Zhong, Q. (2005) Pathways of tau fibrillization, Biochim Biophys Acta. 1739, 167-78.

20. Ross, C. A. & Poirier, M. A. (2004) Protein aggregation and neurodegenerative disease, Nat Med. 10 Suppl, S10-7.

21. Galvan, M., David, J. P., Delacourte, A., Luna, J. & Mena, R. (2001) Sequence of neurofibrillary changes in aging and Alzheimer's disease: A confocal study with phospho-tau antibody, AD2, J Alzheimers Dis. 3, 417-425.

22. Maeda, S., Sahara, N., Saito, Y., Murayama, M., Yoshiike, Y., Kim, H., Miyasaka, T., Murayama, S., Ikai, A. & Takashima, A. (2007) Granular tau oligomers as intermediates of tau filaments, Biochemistry. 46, 3856-61.

23. Maeda, S., Sahara, N., Saito, Y., Murayama, S., Ikai, A. & Takashima, A. (2006) Increased levels of granular tau oligomers: an early sign of brain aging and Alzheimer's disease, Neurosci Res. 54, 197-201.

24. Bancher, C., Brunner, C., Lassmann, H., Budka, H., Jellinger, K., Wiche, G., Seitelberger, F., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K. & Wisniewski, H. M. (1989) Accumulation of abnormally phosphorylated tau precedes the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease, Brain Res. 477, 90-9.

25. Braak, H. & Braak, E. (1998) Evolution of neuronal changes in the course of Alzheimer's disease, J Neural Transm Suppl. 53, 127-40.

26. Wolfe, M. S. (2002) APP, Notch, and presenilin: molecular pieces in the puzzle of Alzheimer's disease, Int Immunopharmacol. 2, 1919-29.

27. Funke, S. A. & Willbold, D. (2012) Peptides for therapy and diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, Curr Pharm Des. 18, 755-67.

28. Masters, C. L., Simms, G., Weinman, N. A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B. L. & Beyreuther, K. (1985) Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 82, 4245-9.

29. Haass, C., Schlossmacher, M. G., Hung, A. Y., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Mellon, A., Ostaszewski, B. L., Lieberburg, I., Koo, E. H., Schenk, D., Teplow, D. B. & et al. (1992) Amyloid betapeptide is produced by cultured cells during normal metabolism, Nature. 359, 322-5.

30. Shoji, M., Golde, T. E., Ghiso, J., Cheung, T. T., Estus, S., Shaffer, L. M., Cai, X. D., McKay, D. M., Tintner, R., Frangione, B. & et al. (1992) Production of the Alzheimer amyloid beta protein by normal proteolytic processing, Science. 258, 126-9.

31. Suzuki, N., Cheung, T. T., Cai, X. D., Odaka, A., Otvos, L., Jr., Eckman, C., Golde, T. E. & Younkin, S. G. (1994) An increased percentage of long amyloid beta protein secreted by familial amyloid beta protein precursor (beta APP717) mutants, Science. 264, 1336-40.

32. Hardy, J. & Selkoe, D. J. (2002) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics, Science. 297, 353-6.

33. Kokubo, H., Kayed, R., Glabe, C. G. & Yamaguchi, H. (2005) Soluble Abeta oligomers ultrastructurally localize to cell processes and might be related to synaptic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease brain, Brain Res. 1031, 222-8.

34. Bitan, G., Kirkitadze, M. D., Lomakin, A., Vollers, S. S., Benedek, G. B. & Teplow, D. B. (2003) Amyloid beta -protein (Abeta) assembly: Abeta 40 and Abeta 42 oligomerize through distinct pathways, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100, 330-5.

35. Wisniewski, T., Ghiso, J. & Frangione, B. (1991) Peptides homologous to the amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease containing a glutamine for glutamic acid substitution have accelerated amyloid fibril formation, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 179, 1247-54.

36. Dobson, C. M. (2003) Protein folding and misfolding, Nature. 426, 884-90.

37. Stefani, M. (2004) Protein misfolding and aggregation: new examples in medicine and biology of the dark side of the protein world, Biochim Biophys Acta. 1739, 5-25.

38. Pepys, M. B. (2006) Amyloidosis, Annu Rev Med. 57, 223-41.

39. Gharibyan, A. L., Zamotin, V., Yanamandra, K., Moskaleva, O. S., Margulis, B. A., Kostanyan, I. A. & Morozova-Roche, L. A. (2007) Lysozyme amyloid oligomers and fibrils induce cellular death via different apoptotic/necrotic pathways, J Mol Biol. 365, 1337-49.

40. Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (1999) Evolution of amyloid: what normal protein folding may tell us about fibrillogenesis and disease, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96, 3342-4.

41. Malchiodi-Albedi, F., Contrusciere, V., Raggi, C., Fecchi, K., Rainaldi, G., Paradisi, S., Matteucci, A., Santini, M. T., Sargiacomo, M., Frank, C., Gaudiano, M. C. & Diociaiuti, M. (2010) Lipid raft disruption protects mature neurons against amyloid oligomer toxicity, Biochim Biophys Acta. 1802, 406-15.

42. Paola, D., Domenicotti, C., Nitti, M., Vitali, A., Borghi, R., Cottalasso, D., Zaccheo, D., Odetti, P., Strocchi, P., Marinari, U. M., Tabaton, M. & Pronzato, M. A. (2000) Oxidative stress induces increase in intracellular amyloid beta-protein production and selective activation of betaI and betaII PKCs in NT2 cells, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 268, 642-6.

43. Patterson, C., Feightner, J. W., Garcia, A., Hsiung, G. Y., MacKnight, C. & Sadovnick, A. D. (2008) Diagnosis and treatment of dementia: 1. Risk assessment and primary prevention of Alzheimer disease, CMAJ. 178, 548-56.

44. Wang, P. & Ding, K. (2014) Proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans in misfolded proteins formation in Alzheimer's disease, Protein Pept Lett. 21, 1048-56.

45. Taylor, K. R. & Gallo, R. L. (2006) Glycosaminoglycans and their proteoglycans: host-associated molecular patterns for initiation and modulation of inflammation, FASEB J. 20, 9-22.

46. Souza-Fernandes, A. B., Pelosi, P. & Rocco, P. R. (2006) Bench-to-bedside review: the role of glycosaminoglycans in respiratory disease, Crit Care. 10, 237.

47. Scott, J. E. (1992) Supramolecular organization of extracellular matrix glycosaminoglycans, in vitro and in the tissues, FASEB J. 6, 2639-45.

48. Saadi, S., Wrenshall, L. E. & Platt, J. L. (2002) Regional manifestations and control of the immune system, FASEB J. 16, 849-56.

49. Kiani, C., Chen, L., Wu, Y. J., Yee, A. J. & Yang, B. B. (2002) Structure and function of aggrecan, Cell Res. 12, 19-32.

50. Chahine, N. O., Chen, F. H., Hung, C. T. & Ateshian, G. A. (2005) Direct measurement of osmotic pressure of glycosaminoglycan solutions by membrane osmometry at room temperature, Biophys J. 89, 1543-50.

51. Cui, H., Freeman, C., Jacobson, G. A. & Small, D. H. (2013) Proteoglycans in the central nervous system: role in development, neural repair, and Alzheimer's disease, IUBMB Life. 65, 108-20.

52. Papy-Garcia, D., Christophe, M., Huynh, M. B., Fernando, S., Ludmilla, S., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E. & Raisman-Vozari, R. (2011) Glycosaminoglycans, protein aggregation and neurodegeneration, Curr Protein Pept Sci. 12, 258-68.

53. McLaurin, J., Franklin, T., Zhang, X., Deng, J. & Fraser, P. E. (1999) Interactions of Alzheimer amyloid-beta peptides with glycosaminoglycans effects on fibril nucleation and growth, Eur J Biochem. 266, 1101-10.

54. DeWitt, D. A., Silver, J., Canning, D. R. & Perry, G. (1993) Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans are associated with the lesions of Alzheimer's disease, Exp Neurol. 121, 149-52.

55. Su, J. H., Cummings, B. J. & Cotman, C. W. (1992) Localization of heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycan and proteoglycan core protein in aged brain and Alzheimer's disease, Neuroscience. 51, 801-13.

56. Snow, A. D., Kinsella, M. G., Parks, E., Sekiguchi, R. T., Miller, J. D., Kimata, K. & Wight, T. N. (1995) Differential binding of vascular cell-derived proteoglycans (perlecan, biglycan, decorin, and versican) to the beta-amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease, Arch Biochem Biophys. 320, 84-95.

57. Bergamaschini, L., Rossi, E., Vergani, C. & De Simoni, M. G. (2009) Alzheimer's disease: another target for heparin therapy, ScientificWorldJournal. 9, 891-908.

58. Hasegawa, M., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R. & Goedert, M. (1997) Alzheimer-like changes in microtubule-associated protein Tau induced by sulfated glycosaminoglycans. Inhibition of microtubule binding, stimulation of phosphorylation, and filament assembly depend on the degree of sulfation, J Biol Chem. 272, 33118-24.

59. Goedert, M., Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., Hasegawa, M., Smith, M. J. & Crowther, R. A. (1996) Assembly of microtubule-associated protein tau into Alzheimer-like filaments induced by sulphated glycosaminoglycans, Nature. 383, 550-3.

60. Paudel, H. K. & Li, W. (1999) Heparin-induced conformational change in microtubuleassociated protein Tau as detected by chemical cross-linking and phosphopeptide mapping, J Biol Chem. 274, 8029-38.

61. Ramachandran, G. & Udgaonkar, J. B. (2011) Understanding the kinetic roles of the inducer heparin and of rod-like protofibrils during amyloid fibril formation by Tau protein, J Biol Chem. 286, 38948-59.

62. Caceres, J. & Brandan, E. (1997) Interaction between Alzheimer's disease beta A4 precursor protein (APP) and the extracellular matrix: evidence for the participation of heparan sulfate proteoglycans, J Cell Biochem. 65, 145-58.

63. Naylor, R., Hill, A. F. & Barnham, K. J. (2008) Neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease: is covalently crosslinked A beta responsible?, Eur Biophys J. 37, 265-8.

64. Salza, R., Lethias, C. & Ricard-Blum, S. (2017) The Multimerization State of the Amyloidbeta42 Amyloid Peptide Governs its Interaction Network with the Extracellular Matrix, J Alzheimers Dis. 56, 991-1005.

65. Fesus, L. & Thomazy, V. (1988) Searching for the function of tissue transglutaminase: its possible involvement in the biochemical pathway of programmed cell death, Adv Exp Med Biol. 231, 119-34.

66. Zhang, W., Johnson, B. R., Suri, D. E., Martinez, J. & Bjornsson, T. D. (1998) Immunohistochemical demonstration of tissue transglutaminase in amyloid plaques, Acta Neuropathol. 96, 395-400.

67. Ikura, K., Takahata, K. & Sasaki, R. (1993) Cross-linking of a synthetic partial-length (1-28) peptide of the Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid protein by transglutaminase, FEBS Lett. 326, 109-11.

68. Dudek, S. M. & Johnson, G. V. (1994) Transglutaminase facilitates the formation of polymers of the beta-amyloid peptide, Brain Res. 651, 129-33.

69. Appelt, D. M. & Balin, B. J. (1997) The association of tissue transglutaminase with human recombinant tau results in the formation of insoluble filamentous structures, Brain Res. 745, 21-31.

70. Citron, B. A., SantaCruz, K. S., Davies, P. J. & Festoff, B. W. (2001) Intron-exon swapping of transglutaminase mRNA and neuronal Tau aggregation in Alzheimer's disease, J Biol Chem. 276, 3295-301.

71. Greenberg, C. S., Birckbichler, P. J. & Rice, R. H. (1991) Transglutaminases: multifunctional cross-linking enzymes that stabilize tissues, FASEB J. 5, 3071-7.

72. Lorand, L. & Conrad, S. M. (1984) Transglutaminases, Mol Cell Biochem. 58, 9-35.

73. Aeschlimann, D., Mosher, D. & Paulsson, M. (1996) Tissue transglutaminase and factor XIII in cartilage and bone remodeling, Semin Thromb Hemost. 22, 437-43.

74. Maggio, N., Sellitti, S., Capano, C. P. & Papa, M. (2001) Tissue-transglutaminase in rat and human brain: light and electron immunocytochemical analysis and in situ hybridization study, Brain Res Bull. 56, 173-82.

75. Esposito, C. & Caputo, I. (2005) Mammalian transglutaminases. Identification of substrates as a key to physiological function and physiopathological relevance, FEBS J. 272, 615-31.

76. Gilad, G. M., Kagan, H. M. & Gilad, V. H. (2005) Evidence for increased lysyl oxidase, the extracellular matrix-forming enzyme, in Alzheimer's disease brain, Neurosci Lett. 376, 210-4.

77. Kagan, H. M. (1994) Lysyl oxidase: mechanism, regulation and relationship to liver fibrosis, Pathol Res Pract. 190, 910-9.

78. Pinnell, S. R. & Martin, G. R. (1968) The cross-linking of collagen and elastin: enzymatic conversion of lysine in peptide linkage to alpha-aminoadipic-delta-semialdehyde (allysine) by an extract from bone, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 61, 708-16.

79. van Horssen, J., Wesseling, P., van den Heuvel, L. P., de Waal, R. M. & Verbeek, M. M. (2003) Heparan sulphate proteoglycans in Alzheimer's disease and amyloid-related disorders, Lancet Neurol. 2, 482-92.

80. Salloway, S., Sperling, R., Fox, N. C., Blennow, K., Klunk, W., Raskind, M., Sabbagh, M., Honig, L. S., Porsteinsson, A. P., Ferris, S., Reichert, M., Ketter, N., Nejadnik, B., Guenzler, V., Miloslavsky, M., Wang, D., Lu, Y., Lull, J., Tudor, I. C., Liu, E., Grundman, M., Yuen, E., Black, R., Brashear, H. R., Bapineuzumab & Clinical Trial, I. (2014) Two phase 3 trials of bapineuzumab in mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease, N Engl J Med. 370, 322-33.

81. Olsson, B., Lautner, R., Andreasson, U., Ohrfelt, A., Portelius, E., Bjerke, M., Holtta, M., Rosen, C., Olsson, C., Strobel, G., Wu, E., Dakin, K., Petzold, M., Blennow, K. & Zetterberg, H. (2016) CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Lancet Neurol. 15, 673-684.

82. Blennow, K. (2004) Cerebrospinal fluid protein biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease, NeuroRx. 1, 213-25.

83. Raditsis, A. V., Milojevic, J. & Melacini, G. (2013) Abeta association inhibition by transferrin, Biophys J. 105, 473-80.

84. Milojevic, J., Raditsis, A. & Melacini, G. (2009) Human serum albumin inhibits Abeta fibrillization through a "monomer-competitor" mechanism, Biophys J. 97, 2585-94.

85. Milojevic, J. & Melacini, G. (2011) Stoichiometry and affinity of the human serum albumin-Alzheimer's Abeta peptide interactions, Biophys J. 100, 183-92.

86. Milojevic, J., Esposito, V., Das, R. & Melacini, G. (2007) Understanding the molecular basis for the inhibition of the Alzheimer's Abeta-peptide oligomerization by human serum albumin

using saturation transfer difference and off-resonance relaxation NMR spectroscopy, J Am Chem Soc. 129, 4282-90.

87. Hare, D. J., Doecke, J. D., Faux, N. G., Rembach, A., Volitakis, I., Fowler, C. J., Grimm, R., Doble, P. A., Cherny, R. A., Masters, C. L., Bush, A. I. & Roberts, B. R. (2015) Decreased plasma iron in Alzheimer's disease is due to transferrin desaturation, ACS Chem Neurosci. 6, 398-402.

88. Zecca, L., Youdim, M. B., Riederer, P., Connor, J. R. & Crichton, R. R. (2004) Iron, brain ageing and neurodegenerative disorders, Nat Rev Neurosci. 5, 863-73.

89. Biere, A. L., Ostaszewski, B., Stimson, E. R., Hyman, B. T., Maggio, J. E. & Selkoe, D. J. (1996) Amyloid beta-peptide is transported on lipoproteins and albumin in human plasma, J Biol Chem. 271, 32916-22.

90. Stevens, R. W., Elmendorf, D., Gourlay, M., Stroebel, E. & Gaafar, H. A. (1979) Application of fluoroimmunoassay to cerebrospinal fluid immunoglobulin G and albumin, J Clin Microbiol. 10, 346-50.

91. Nadimidla, K., Ismail, T. & Kanapathipillai, M. (2017) Tau peptides and tau mutant protein aggregation inhibition by cationic polyethyleneimine and polyarginine, Biopolymers. 107.

92. Boutajangout, A. & Wisniewski, T. (2014) Tau-based therapeutic approaches for Alzheimer's disease - a mini-review, Gerontology. 60, 381-5.

93. Brunden, K. R., Ballatore, C., Crowe, A., Smith, A. B., 3rd, Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010) Tau-directed drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease and related tauopathies: a focus on tau assembly inhibitors, Exp Neurol. 223, 304-10.

94. Mohamed, T., Hoang, T., Jelokhani-Niaraki, M. & Rao, P. P. (2013) Tau-derivedhexapeptide 306VQIVYK311 aggregation inhibitors: nitrocatechol moiety as a pharmacophore in drug design, ACS Chem Neurosci. 4, 1559-70.

95. Mohamed, T. & Rao, P. P. (2011) Alzheimer's disease: emerging trends in small molecule therapies, Curr Med Chem. 18, 4299-320.

96. Eschmann, N. A., Do, T. D., LaPointe, N. E., Shea, J. E., Feinstein, S. C., Bowers, M. T. & Han, S. (2015) Tau Aggregation Propensity Engrained in Its Solution State, J Phys Chem B. 119, 14421-32.

97. Schafer, K. N., Cisek, K., Huseby, C. J., Chang, E. & Kuret, J. (2013) Structural determinants of Tau aggregation inhibitor potency, J Biol Chem. 288, 32599-611.

98. Levine, Z. A., Larini, L., LaPointe, N. E., Feinstein, S. C. & Shea, J. E. (2015) Regulation and aggregation of intrinsically disordered peptides, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 112, 2758-63.

99. Dammers, C., Yolcu, D., Kukuk, L., Willbold, D., Pickhardt, M., Mandelkow, E., Horn, A. H., Sticht, H., Malhis, M. N., Will, N., Schuster, J. & Funke, S. A. (2016) Selection and Characterization of Tau Binding -Enantiomeric Peptides with Potential for Therapy of Alzheimer Disease, PLoS One. 11, e0167432.

100. Matsuoka, Y., Jouroukhin, Y., Gray, A. J., Ma, L., Hirata-Fukae, C., Li, H. F., Feng, L., Lecanu, L., Walker, B. R., Planel, E., Arancio, O., Gozes, I. & Aisen, P. S. (2008) A neuronal microtubule-interacting agent, NAPVSIPQ, reduces tau pathology and enhances cognitive function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 325, 146-53.

101. Sievers, S. A., Karanicolas, J., Chang, H. W., Zhao, A., Jiang, L., Zirafi, O., Stevens, J. T., Munch, J., Baker, D. & Eisenberg, D. (2011) Structure-based design of non-natural amino-acid inhibitors of amyloid fibril formation, Nature. 475, 96-100.

102. Brambilla, D., Verpillot, R., Le Droumaguet, B., Nicolas, J., Taverna, M., Kona, J., Lettiero, B., Hashemi, S. H., De Kimpe, L., Canovi, M., Gobbi, M., Nicolas, V., Scheper, W., Moghimi, S. M., Tvaroska, I., Couvreur, P. & Andrieux, K. (2012) PEGylated nanoparticles bind to and alter amyloid-beta peptide conformation: toward engineering of functional nanomedicines for Alzheimer's disease, ACS Nano. 6, 5897-908.

103. Gobbi, M., Re, F., Canovi, M., Beeg, M., Gregori, M., Sesana, S., Sonnino, S., Brogioli, D., Musicanti, C., Gasco, P., Salmona, M. & Masserini, M. E. (2010) Lipid-based nanoparticles with high binding affinity for amyloid-beta1-42 peptide, Biomaterials. 31, 6519-29.

104. Cheng, K. K., Yeung, C. F., Ho, S. W., Chow, S. F., Chow, A. H. & Baum, L. (2013) Highly stabilized curcumin nanoparticles tested in an in vitro blood-brain barrier model and in Alzheimer's disease Tg2576 mice, AAPS J. 15, 324-36.

105. Cheng, X. & van Breemen, R. B. (2005) Mass spectrometry-based screening for inhibitors of beta-amyloid protein aggregation, Anal Chem. 77, 7012-5.

106. Lambracht-Washington, D. & Rosenberg, R. N. (2013) Advances in the development of vaccines for Alzheimer's disease, Discov Med. 15, 319-26.

107. Evin, G. & Hince, C. (2013) BACE1 as a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease: rationale and current status, Drugs Aging. 30, 755-64.

108. Wolfe, M. S. (2012) gamma-Secretase inhibitors and modulators for Alzheimer's disease, J Neurochem. 120 Suppl 1, 89-98.

109. Stine, W. B., Jungbauer, L., Yu, C. & LaDu, M. J. (2011) Preparing synthetic Abeta in different aggregation states, Methods Mol Biol. 670, 13-32.

110. Danhier, F., Ansorena, E., Silva, J. M., Coco, R., Le Breton, A. & Preat, V. (2012) PLGAbased nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications, J Control Release. 161, 505-22.

111. Khurana, R., Coleman, C., Ionescu-Zanetti, C., Carter, S. A., Krishna, V., Grover, R. K., Roy, R. & Singh, S. (2005) Mechanism of thioflavin T binding to amyloid fibrils, J Struct Biol. 151, 229-38.

112. Santa-Maria, I., Perez, M., Hernandez, F., Avila, J. & Moreno, F. J. (2006) Characteristics of the binding of thioflavin S to tau paired helical filaments, J Alzheimers Dis. 9, 279-85.

113. Zhao, R., So, M., Maat, H., Ray, N. J., Arisaka, F., Goto, Y., Carver, J. A. & Hall, D. (2016) Measurement of amyloid formation by turbidity assay-seeing through the cloud, Biophys Rev. 8, 445-471.

114. Wang, H. & Joseph, J. A. (1999) Quantifying cellular oxidative stress by dichlorofluorescein assay using microplate reader, Free Radic Biol Med. 27, 612-6.

115. Gomes, A., Fernandes, E. & Lima, J. L. (2005) Fluorescence probes used for detection of reactive oxygen species, J Biochem Biophys Methods. 65, 45-80.

Chapter 3: Role of Glycosaminoglycans in Tau Peptides Aggregation

3.1 Introduction

Tau protein aggregation and subsequent neurofibrillary tangle formation are hallmark of Alzheimer's disease [1, 2]. Tau protein consists of 441 amino acids with microtubule binding region that contains four repeat peptide units [3, 4]. They are composed of hexapeptide domains VQIVYK, and VQIINK, and are believed to be the major drivers of tau pathological assembly [5-9], and are widely used as a model to study tau aggregation in vitro.

Several factors are known to influence the tau aggregation [5, 10-12]. Among them, polyanions, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and their sulfated forms, and RNA have shown to induce Alzheimer's like changes in tau protein and believed to play a major role in tau aggregation [13, 14]. Further, sulfated glycosaminoglycans have shown to promote tau aggregation and have been found to be present in Alzheimer's disease affected brain [13, 15]. Previously, it has been shown that GAGs influence the aggregation of amyloid beta peptide (A β_{42}) aggregation in vitro [16]. Tau protein also has been shown to assemble into filaments like morphology in the presence of sulfated heparin [17], and heparin induced conformational changes in tau protein have been observed [18, 19]. In addition, tau peptide fragments aggregation in the presence of heparin has been investigated before [20]. But, the role of other glycosaminoglycan molecules on tau hexapeptides, and their extracellular mimetic conditions haven't been explored in detail.

Here in this thesis chapter we study the effect of GAG molecules (in solution and on surface) heparin (Hep), heparin sulfate (HepS), dermatan sulfate (DS), chondroitin sulfate (CS), and hyaluronan (HA) on the aggregation of tau peptides. The peptides used are, hexapeptide domain ³⁰⁶ VQIVYK³¹¹ (Tau V) segment from the microtubule binding region of tau protein, and the tau mutant peptide fragment GKVQIINKLDL (Tau N), widely found in taupathy. The aggregation of the peptides was studied utilizing the biochemical, biophysical, and cell toxicity assays. The thesis study revealed that the heparin, chondroitin sulfate, and dermatan sulfate in solution, significantly promote tau peptides aggregation and fibril formation, while surface coated GAGs did not promote significant aggregation.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Materials

Tau peptides were custom synthesized from Genscript. Low molecular weight heparin, heparin sulfate (GAG-HS01), and dermatan sulfate (GAG-DS01) were purchased from Galen Laboratory Supplies. Chondroitin sulfate (C4384), hylaluronic acid (53747), and all other chemicals, and reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. ELISA 96 well Clear Amino Surface Plate was purchased from Galen laboratory supplies.

3.2.2 ThS measurements

First stock solutions of tau peptides (1 mM) and GAGs (1 mM) were prepared by dissolving in deionized water. ThS was freshly prepared at a concentration of 0.5 mg/ml in 20 mM MOPS buffer, pH 7. For the ThS measurement, 10 μ l of peptide was dissolved in 2.5 μ l GAG stock solution, 10 μ l ThS, and MOPS buffer to make the final 100 μ l working solution. A M3 spectramax spectrophotometer was used to measure the ThS fluorescence at 440/490 nm, excitation and

emission. Aggregation kinetic measurements were performed every two minutes for 30 minutes. Three independent experiments were carried out and the average readings were obtained.

3.2.3 DLS

A Malvern zetasizer instrument in the lab was used to measure the size of the aggregation of the peptides with GAGs. Samples were prepared under similar conditions without the ThS, and the size measurements were performed. Three independent size measurement experiments were performed for each GAGs condition.

3.2.4 Turbidity

The peptides aggregation was measured by the turbidity of the samples at 400 nm. Samples were prepared under similar conditions without the ThS, and the turbidity measurements were performed using a spectramax M3 spectrophotometer in the lab. Three independent size measurement experiments were performed for each GAGs condition.

3.2.5 TEM

TEM images were obtained using the JEOL JSM 1400 TEM at UM-Ann arbor electron microscope facility. The peptides were aggregated with GAGs for 1 hour, spotted on holy carbon copper grids, and then stained with 1% uranyl formate.

3.2.6 Cell toxicity assay

The toxicity of tau peptides aggregates with GAGs on human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells was studied by the XTT assay. Cells were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), and cultured according to the protocol. For the study, 2x 10⁴ cells/well, were cultured in 96 well
plates overnight. Peptides (32 μ M) with or without GAGs of concentrations (8 μ M) were aggregated for 24 hours, and subsequently incubated for 48 hours.

3.2.7 GAGs surface coating and aggregation assays

To study the influence of surface coated GAGs on peptide aggregation, first GAGS were coated on GAGs binding plates. For GAGs binding, 100 μ l solution of 0.01 M PBS containing 25 μ M of GAGs (Hep, CS, DS, HepS, and HA) were added to a GAGs binding plate and incubated at room temperature according to manufacturer's protocol. After 24 hours, the PBS/GAGs solution was aspirated and the wells were washed three times with PBS buffer. For aggregation studies on GAGs coated plates, 15 μ l of 1 mM Tau N, 15 μ l ThS (0.5mg/ml), and 120 μ l MOPS (20 mM) solution was added into each well. The turbidity of the peptide aggregates was measured at 400 nm wavelength after 30 min incubation. AFM was to characterize the morphology.

3.2.8 AFM

Hitachi AFM 5100N was used to obtain the AFM images for tau peptides samples with GAGs. For preparation, 2 μ l of the aggregated sample solutions were spotted on freshly cleaved mica, and kept to dry before imaging. AFM tips (Applied Nanostructures Inc.) with an average resonance frequency of 300 kHz, was used to image samples using tapping mode. The length and the width of the cantilever are 125 μ m and 30 μ m respectively, and the average force constant is 37 N/m.

3.2.9 Statistical Analysis

Each experiment was conducted three or more times, and they are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). P-values were determined from the results of at least 3-independent experiments. Statistical significance was computed using analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's HSD post-hoc analysis test. **p< 0.01, *p< 0.05 are considered as significance.

3.3 Results

In this chapter we studied the influence of GAGS on tau peptides aggregation, and cellular toxicity. For the GAGS induced aggregation study, two different peptides to GAGs molar ratios 4:1 or 20:1 were used. First, we used thioflavin to study the aggregation. Thioflavin S measurements show that the GAGs influence both Tau V, and Tau N peptides aggregation in vitro. Aggregation of the peptides was enhanced in the presence of chondroitin sulfate, heparin, and dermatan sulfate (Figure 3.1 A, B). Sulfated heparin and hyaluronan on the other hand exhibited minimal aggregation effect. At both 4:1, and 20:1 molar ratios, chondroitin sulfate seems to influence the aggregation of Tau V peptide (Figure 3.1A, Figure 3.2A). Tau N aggregation is enhanced in the presence of chondroitin sulfate seems to influence the aggregation of tau to peptide at lower molar ratios (Figure 3.2B), while at higher GAGs content, heparin seems to have more influence on the Tau N aggregation (Figure 3.1B). Also, it is important to note that, compared to heparin, the sulfated form of heparin did not exhibit significant aggregation.



Figure 3.1. A). Tau V peptide (100 μ M) aggregation kinetics was studied with GAGs (25 μ M). **B).** Tau N peptide (100 μ M) aggregation kinetics was studied with GAGs (25 μ M). ThS fluorescence, show the aggregation is influenced by the presence of glycosaminoglycan used.



Figure 3.2. A). Tau V peptide (100 μ M) aggregation Kinetics was studied with and without GAGs (5 μ M). B). Tau N peptide (100 μ M) aggregation kinetics was studied with and without GAGs (5 μ M).

DLS, and turbidity measurements were then used to measure the size distribution, and turbidity of the peptide aggregates, with and without GAGs. As can be seen from Figure 3.3(i), chondroitin sulfate, heparin, and dermatan sulfate treated Tau N peptides, exhibited larger sizes, indicating the presence of aggregation or fibrillar structures. As for the Tau V peptide aggregation size, significant increase in all the GAGs treated peptides was observed compared to Tau V peptide alone (Figure 3.3 (ii)).



Figure 3.3 A. (i). Dynamic light scattering measurements of the Tau N peptide (100 μ M) aggregates with GAGs (25 μ M). (ii) Tau V peptide (100 μ M) aggregation with and without GAGs (25 μ M), assessed by turbidity measurements.

As Tau N showed significant aggregation in the presence of GAGs revealed by ThS measurements, next we tested the morphology of the Tau N aggregates by TEM (Figure 3.4). Images reveal, that the Tau N peptides treated with heparin, and chondroitin sulfate exhibited higher amount of fibril like structures, in agreement with the ThS measurements. Dermatan sulfate treated peptides exhibited aggregates like morphology. Also in agreement with the ThS measurements, the TEM images of heparin sulfate, and hyaluronan treated samples showed less aggregated structures compared to other GAGs treated samples.



Figure 3.4. A). TEM images of Tau N peptide aggregation in the presence of GAGs. Scale bar 1 µm.

Next, we tested whether aggregation tendencies were observed under extracellular mimetic conditions. As stated before, since Tau N exhibited significant aggregation in solution in the presence of GAGs as revealed by ths (Figure 3.1), we tested their aggregation tendency due to surface coated GAGs. For this, GAGs were coated on special GAGs binding plates, and then Tau N peptides solutions were subsequently incubated on the surface. As can be seen from AFM images in Figure 3.5, all the GAGs exposed peptides showed some aggregation tendency. However, the amount of aggregates seems to be less, compared to the aggregation formed due to the presence of GAGs in the solution form. To further confirm this, we did turbidity measurements. As can be seen from Figure 3.6, there is no significant difference among different GAGS treatment compared to untreated GAGs. Although chondroitin sulfate showed more aggregation/fibril formation revealed from both AFM and turbidity, it was not statistically significant. The data

suggests, that the intracellular GAGs may have major role in tau aggregation compared to extracellular GAGs.



Figure 3.5. AFM images of Tau N peptide aggregation in the presence of GAGs coated surfaces. Scale bar 500 nm.



Figure 3.6. Tau N peptide aggregation with and without GAGs coated surfaces, assessed by turbidity measurements.

To assess the toxicity effects of GAGs on tau peptide aggregation, we performed cellular toxicity studies of Tau N and Tau V aggregated samples in the presence of GAGs. For the study, we used SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells, that is widely used as a model cell line in neurodegenerative disease studies to assess the toxicity effects [21]. Cells were cultured in 96 well plates and incubated with Tau peptides and GAGs for 48 hours and XTT assay was performed to assess the cell viability. As can be seen from the Figure 3.7, all the samples treated with GAGs exhibited toxicity effects. While dermatan sulfate treated samples show a slight increase in

toxicity, statistically it is not significantly different from other GAGs treated samples indicating the importance of all the GAGs in peptide aggregation mediated toxicity. The enhanced toxicity in the presence of dermatan sulfate may be due to its influence in the formation of aggregates like morphology compared to fibrillar structures as observed from the TEM images. Finally, we have tested the toxicity effect of GAGs alone. Cell viability assay reveal, none of the GAGs exhibited toxicity to SH-SY5Y cells (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.7. Toxicity effect of Tau peptides aggregates with GAGs on SH-SY5Y cells. **A)** Tau N with GAGs **B)** Tau V with GAGs. Peptides in the presence of GAGs exhibited significant toxicity, *p< 0.05.



Figure 3.8. Effect of GAGs on SH-SY5Y cells viability. The toxicity data show no significant toxicity of GAGs at the tested concentrations (8 μ M) relevant to the study.

3.4 Discussion

Glycosaminoglycans have shown to play a key role in Alzheimer's disease. A recent study suggest that N-glycans may play an important role in Alzheimer's disease [22]. In another study, it is stated that GAGs have a scaffolding role on amyloidogenic proteins [23]. Further, it has been reported that glycosaminoglycan heparin, which is anionic in nature, believed to play a key role in the tau aggregation by interacting with the microtubule binding region [13, 18]. Here we show that GAGS, both in solution and on surface, have the capability to influence the tau peptides aggregation, fibrillization and toxicity in vitro. As far as GAGs are concerned, chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate, and heparin seem to influence the peptide aggregation more compared to other GAGs. Although it has been reported that the sulfated form of heparin is found in the amyloid plaques, it did not promote significant aggregation of tau peptides under in vitro conditions. Hyaluronan showed the least aggregation promoting effects among the GAGs studied. Further, the GAGs in solution seems to have more influence on the aggregation compared to the surface coated GAGs.

3.5 Conclusion

From this thesis chapter study, we show that GAGs influence the tau peptides aggregation under in vitro conditions. The kind of glycosaminoglycan, and the sulfate modifications, and the physical representation also seems to influence the aggregation mechanism. This study could open further opportunities for the investigation of polyanions associated tau aggregation mechanisms and therapeutic interventions.

3.6 Acknowledgment

We would like to thank the University of Michigan Dearborn department of Mechanical engineering, and the College of Engineering and Computer Science for funding. We would like to thank the University of Michigan Microscope and Imaging (MIL) facility for the use of TEM

and confocal microscopes.

3.7 References

1. Giacobini, E. & Gold, G. (2013) Alzheimer disease therapy--moving from amyloid-beta to tau, Nat Rev Neurol. 9, 677-86.

2. Wischik, C. M., Harrington, C. R. & Storey, J. M. (2014) Tau-aggregation inhibitor therapy for Alzheimer's disease, Biochem Pharmacol. **88**, 529-39.

3. Avila, J., Jimenez, J. S., Sayas, C. L., Bolos, M., Zabala, J. C., Rivas, G. & Hernandez, F. (2016) Tau Structures, Front Aging Neurosci. **8**, 262.

4. Iqbal, K., Liu, F., Gong, C. X. & Grundke-Iqbal, I. (2010) Tau in Alzheimer disease and related tauopathies, Curr Alzheimer Res. 7, 656-64.

5. von Bergen, M., Barghorn, S., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E. M. & Mandelkow, E. (2005) Tau aggregation is driven by a transition from random coil to beta sheet structure, Biochim Biophys Acta. **1739**, 158-66.

6. Mandelkow, E., von Bergen, M., Biernat, J. & Mandelkow, E. M. (2007) Structural principles of tau and the paired helical filaments of Alzheimer's disease, Brain Pathol. **17**, 83-90.

7. Li, W. & Lee, V. M. (2006) Characterization of two VQIXXK motifs for tau fibrillization in vitro, Biochemistry. **45**, 15692-701.

8. Goux, W. J., Kopplin, L., Nguyen, A. D., Leak, K., Rutkofsky, M., Shanmuganandam, V. D., Sharma, D., Inouye, H. & Kirschner, D. A. (2004) The formation of straight and twisted filaments from short tau peptides, J Biol Chem. **279**, 26868-75.

9. Ganguly, P., Do, T. D., Larini, L., LaPointe, N. E., Sercel, A. J., Shade, M. F., Feinstein, S. C., Bowers, M. T. & Shea, J. E. (2015) Tau assembly: the dominant role of PHF6 (VQIVYK) in microtubule binding region repeat R3, J Phys Chem B. **119**, 4582-93.

10. Boutajangout, A. & Wisniewski, T. (2014) Tau-based therapeutic approaches for Alzheimer's disease - a mini-review, Gerontology. **60**, 381-5.

11. Brunden, K. R., Ballatore, C., Crowe, A., Smith, A. B., 3rd, Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010) Tau-directed drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease and related tauopathies: a focus on tau assembly inhibitors, Exp Neurol. **223**, 304-10.

12. Mukrasch, M. D., Biernat, J., von Bergen, M., Griesinger, C., Mandelkow, E. & Zweckstetter, M. (2005) Sites of tau important for aggregation populate {beta}-structure and bind to microtubules and polyanions, J Biol Chem. **280**, 24978-86.

Papy-Garcia, D., Christophe, M., Huynh, M. B., Fernando, S., Ludmilla, S., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E. & Raisman-Vozari, R. (2011) Glycosaminoglycans, protein aggregation and neurodegeneration, Curr Protein Pept Sci. 12, 258-68.

14. Kampers, T., Friedhoff, P., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E. M. & Mandelkow, E. (1996) RNA stimulates aggregation of microtubule-associated protein tau into Alzheimer-like paired helical filaments, FEBS Lett. **399**, 344-9.

15. Ariga, T., Miyatake, T. & Yu, R. K. (2010) Role of proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and related disorders: amyloidogenesis and therapeutic strategies--a review, J Neurosci Res. **88**, 2303-15.

16. McLaurin, J., Franklin, T., Zhang, X., Deng, J. & Fraser, P. E. (1999) Interactions of Alzheimer amyloid-beta peptides with glycosaminoglycans effects on fibril nucleation and growth, Eur J Biochem. **266**, 1101-10.

17. Goedert, M., Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., Hasegawa, M., Smith, M. J. & Crowther, R. A. (1996) Assembly of microtubule-associated protein tau into Alzheimer-like filaments induced by sulphated glycosaminoglycans, Nature. **383**, 550-3.

18. Paudel, H. K. & Li, W. (1999) Heparin-induced conformational change in microtubuleassociated protein Tau as detected by chemical cross-linking and phosphopeptide mapping, J Biol Chem. **274**, 8029-38.

19. Ramachandran, G. & Udgaonkar, J. B. (2011) Understanding the kinetic roles of the inducer heparin and of rod-like protofibrils during amyloid fibril formation by Tau protein, J Biol Chem. **286**, 38948-59.

20. Larini, L., Gessel, M. M., LaPointe, N. E., Do, T. D., Bowers, M. T., Feinstein, S. C. & Shea, J. E. (2013) Initiation of assembly of tau(273-284) and its DeltaK280 mutant: an experimental and computational study, Phys Chem Chem Phys. **15**, 8916-28.

21. Schlachetzki, J. C., Saliba, S. W. & Oliveira, A. C. (2013) Studying neurodegenerative diseases in culture models, Rev Bras Psiquiatr. **35 Suppl 2**, S92-100.

22. Kizuka, Y., Kitazume, S. & Taniguchi, N. (2017) N-glycan and Alzheimer's disease, Biochim Biophys Acta.

23. Aguilera, J. J., Zhang, F., Beaudet, J. M., Linhardt, R. J. & Colon, W. (2014) Divergent effect of glycosaminoglycans on the in vitro aggregation of serum amyloid A, Biochimie. **104**, 70-80.

Chapter 4: Tau peptides and tau mutant protein aggregation inhibition by cationic polyethyleneimine and polyarginine

Keerthi Nadimidla, Tania Ismail, and Mathumai Kanapathipillai

(A paper published in Biopolymers)(Reproduction with permission of John Wiley and Sons)

4.1 Abstract

Tau protein plays a major role in Alzheimer's disease. The tau protein loses its functionality by self-aggregation due to the two six-amino acid sequences VQIVYK, and VQIINK of the protein. Hence it's imperative to find therapeutics that could inhibit the self-aggregation of this tau peptide fragments. Here we study the inhibitory potential of a cationic polymer polyethyleneimine (PEI), and a cationic polypeptide arginine (Arg) on the aggregation of VQIVYK, and GKVQIINKLDL peptides, and tau mutant protein (P301L), found frequently in taupathy. Various characterization methods are employed including thioflavin T, transmission electron microscopy (TEM), and dynamic light scattering (DLS) to study the aggregation/inhibition process *in vitro*. Results show, PEI and Arg significantly inhibit tau peptides and protein aggregation. The study could be applied to understand tau protein aggregation mechanism in the presence of cationic polymers.

Key words: Aggregation, tau peptide, polyethyleneimine, polyarginine, inhibition, cation.

4.2 Introduction

Tau protein plays an important role in the regulation of microtubules in the brain. During Alzheimer's and related pathological conditions, tau has been shown to dissociate from the microtubule, self-aggregates, and form neurofibrillary tangles [1, 2]. Cell to cell transmission of the aggregates and fibrillar structures results in neuronal cell death and subsequent progression of the Alzheimer's [3, 4]. The hexapeptide repeats VQIVYK, and VQIINK found in the carboxyl region of the tau protein, believe to be the drivers in the formation of inter-tau beta sheets, and subsequent aggregation and fibril structures [2, 5, 6]. The hexapeptide repeats are well characterized, and have shown to form beta-sheets, and subsequent fibrillar assembly with cross beta sheet structure, *in vitro* [6, 7]. They are widely used as a model to study tau aggregation, and for the investigation of therapeutic interventions of this pathologic aggregation [4, 6, 8].

Several therapeutic modalities for the inhibition of tau peptide/protein aggregation have been reported [9, 10]. Among the approaches, the use of small molecule compounds has recently gained a lot of interest. Several small molecules have shown to exhibit anti-tau aggregation properties against tau peptides and protein [11, 12]. However, there have been only few studies reported on the effect of macromolecules on tau aggregation mechanism and in tau pathology [13-15]. Recent study by Dammers and others show the modulation of tau aggregation mechanism by D-enantiomer peptides [13]. Other macromolecules that have been shown to have effect on tau pathology are, an eight amino acid peptide Davunetide [14], and a D-aminoacid inhibitor peptide [15]. By studying the macromolecules-tau interaction, further insights on tau aggregation mechanism and inhibition could be unraveled, and could aid in the development of tau aggregation inhibitory molecules, and drug delivery strategies. Previous studies have shown that cationic small molecules, and cationic osmolyte urea have inhibitory potential on tau aggregation [8, 16, 17].

However, effect of cationic polymers on tau peptide aggregation inhibition hasn't been explored in detail yet. We are particularly interested in studying the cationic polyethyleneimine and polyarginine polymers on their effect on tau aggregation.

Here in this paper we investigated the inhibitory potential of the cationic polymers PEI and PR on the aggregation of tau hexapeptide domain ³⁰⁶ VQIVYK³¹¹ (Tau V) segment from the microtubule binding region of tau protein, and the peptide fragment GKVQIINKLDL (Tau N), which is widely found in taupathy. The peptides are well characterized and have been used as models to study the tau aggregation [6, 8]. In addition, to have a physiologically closer mimic, we also investigate the aggregation inhibition of a mutant tau protein (P301L), found in adult brains affected by taupathy [18, 19]. The aggregation with and without the cationic polymer, and polypeptide/protein were studied utilizing the standard peptide aggregation characterization methods thioflavin S, TEM, and dynamic light scattering (DLS). The results show that the cationic PEI and Arg, exhibited significant inhibitory effect on the tau peptides and protein aggregation. The study demonstrates for the first time that cationic polymers could inhibit tau peptide and protein aggregation, and could be used as model compounds to study the tau aggregation mechanism *in vitro*.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Materials

Tau peptides, and corresponding mutant peptides were custom synthesized from Genscript. Tau mutant protein, P301L was obtained from rPeptide. Low molecular weight heparin was purchased from Galen laboratory supplies. All other chemicals, and reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The polyethyleneimine-branched (Mw 25,000, cat no: 408727), and poly-l-arginine

hydrochloride (Mw 5,000-15,000, cat no: P4663) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich, and was used as obtained.

4.3.2 Thioflavin S (ThS) fluorescence measurement

Tau peptides stocks of 1 mM were prepared by dissolving in deionized water. ThS of 0.5 mg/ml was freshly prepared with 20 mM MOPS buffer, pH 7. 1 mM Heparin stock solutions were prepared by dissolving in deionized water. For the ThS assay, 10 μ l of peptide was dissolved in 2.5 μ l heparin, 10 μ l ThS, and MOPS buffer with or without the cationic inhibitors to make the final 100 μ l working solution. ThS fluorescence was measured at 440/490 nm excitation and emission using a spectrophotometer in the lab. Kinetic measurements were performed with 2 minutes interval for 30 min. The experiments were repeated for three independent experiments.

4.3.3 DLS

DLS measurements were performed using a Malvern zetasizer instrument in the lab. Samples were prepared under similar conditions without the ThS, and diluted 10 times, and the size measurements were performed. The experiments were repeated for three independent experiments.

4.3.4 TEM

For TEM imaging, the peptides, after 2 hours of aggregation were spotted on holy carbon copper grids, and then stained with 1% uranyl formate. The samples were then be imaged using the JEOL JSM 1400 TEM at UM-Ann arbor electron microscope facility.

4.3.5. Cell toxicity assay

The toxicity of PEI and Arg on normal human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells was studied by the XTT assay. Cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), and were

cultured according to the manufacturers protocol. We have also tested the toxicity effect of Tau N on these cells. For the study, $2x10^4$ cells/well, were cultured in 96 well plates over night. For PEI and Arg toxicity, PEI concentrations of 50-200 nM, and Arg concentrations of 1- 4 μ M were incubated for 48 hours. For Tau N toxicity study, Tau N concentrations of 10, 20, and 40 μ M were tested with and without PEI and Arg. XTT assay was performed at 470 nm, and the viability was determined according to manufacturer's protocol.

4.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Data were collected from three or more replicates for each experiment, and they are presented as $mean \pm standard$ error of the mean (SEM). P-values were determined from the results of at least 3-independent experiments for statistical significance unpaired T-test was used.

4.4 Results and Discussion

The approach used for the study is depicted in Figure 4.1. The goal of the study is to test the potential of cationic polymer PEI and cationic peptide Arg on the inhibition of tau peptide/protein aggregation, and subsequent fibril formation. First, we performed thioflavin S measurements to probe the aggregation kinetics of the tau peptides with and without PEI and Arg. The thioflavin S measurements show that the cationic polymers successfully inhibit both Tau V, and Tau N peptides aggregation *in vitro*. The kinetic study show, faster aggregation for peptides without any inhibitors. PEI with hundred times lower molar concentrations was able to inhibit both peptides aggregation, while Arg with about ten times lower molar concentrations was able to inhibit the peptides Tau N (Figure 4.2), and Tau V (Figure 4.3) aggregation. To confirm, that the aggregation of Tau N, and Tau V is sequence specific, we did scrambled peptides VKYVIQ, and GKIVQNIVLKKLD

aggregation. As can be seen from Figure 4.4, the scrambled peptides did not show significant aggregation, indicating the importance of hexapeptides domain in tau aggregation.



Peptide/Protein monomers

Figure 4.1. Schematic of the approach used. Proposed tau peptides aggregation inhibition by cationic polymer polyethyleneimine and cationic polypeptide polyarginine



Figure 4.2. Tau N peptide (100 uM) aggregation kinetics was studied with and without PEI and Arg at concentrations depicted in the figure. Thioflavin S fluorescence show significant inhibitory effect of both PEI (A), and Arg (B) on Tau N aggregation.



Figure 4.3. Tau V peptide (100 uM) aggregation kinetics was studied with and without PEI and Arg at concentrations as depicted in the figure. Thioflavin S fluorescence show significant inhibitory effect of both PEI (A), and Arg (B) on Tau V aggregation



Figure 4.4. Scrambled peptides aggregation kinetics was studied with Thioflavin S binding assay. Thioflavin S fluorescence, indicate the scrambled peptides did not exhibit significant peptide aggregation.

We then tested the morphology of the Tau N and Tau V aggregates with and without PEI and Arg using TEM. Images reveal, that the tau peptide Tau N fibers formed more fibrils compared to the Tau V aggregates, corroborating the ThS data. PEI, and Arg in few micromolar concentrations were able to effectively inhibit the aggregation of 100 μ M peptides as seen in Figure 4.5, and is in agreement with the ThS data. Further, as a complementary technique, we performed dynamic light scattering measurements to study the size of the peptides aggregation with and without PEI and Arg. The size measurements for GKVQIINKLDL (Tau N) aggregation show, that the aggregation size is reduced in the presence of polyethyleneimine or polyarginine, in corroboration with the ThS and TEM measurements (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.5. TEM images show the tau peptides aggregation inhibition in the presence of PEI and Arg. (A) Tau N, with and without PEI or Arg, (B) Tau V, with and without PEI or Arg. Scale bar 1 µm.



Figure 4.6. Dynamic light scattering measurements of the Tau N peptide aggregation with and without PEI **(A)** or Arg **(B)**, indicating the reduction in aggregation size in the presence of PEI or Arg.

We then studied the inhibitory effect of the cationic polymers on tau mutant protein aggregation. The aggregation inhibition of a mutant tau protein (P301L), found in adult brains affected by taupathy was studied. To test the effect of aggregation inhibition, we performed aggregation kinetics of tau mutant protein aggregation with and without PEI and Arg similar to the peptide aggregation experiments described earlier. As can be seen from ThS measurements (Figure 4.7A), DLS (Figure 4.7B), and TEM images (Figure 4.7C), the cationic polymers are able to inhibit the protein aggregation.



Figure 4.7. Tau mutant protein (100 nM) aggregation inhibition studies show that PEI and Arg were able to inhibit protein aggregation A) Thioflavin S, B) Dynamic light scattering, and C) TEM images. Scale bar 1 μ m.

Finally, to assess whether the cationic peptides have toxicity effects in normal cells, we performed cellular toxicity studies on normal cells in the presence of PEI and Arg with varying concentrations. For the study, we used SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells, which is also used as a model cell line in neurodegenerative disease studies [20], and hence would be a suitable for our study. Cells were cultured in 96 well plates and incubated with PEI and Arg for 48 hours and XTT assay was performed to assess the cell viability. As can be seen from the Figure 4.8, no significant toxicity was observed from PEI or Arg up to a few micro molar concentrations. We have also tested the toxicity effects of Tau N on SH-SY5Y cells (Figure 4.9). Tau N exhibited toxicity around 40 µM of peptide concentration, while the lower concentrations showed no toxicity (Figure 4.9A). Tau N treated with PEI and Arg did not exhibit cellular toxicity at the tested

concentrations (Figure 4.9B, C). Hence, the cationic polymers, could have therapeutic potential against tau aggregation.



Figure 4.8. XTT assay show no significant decrease on the cell viability of SH-SY5Y cells in the presence of (A) PEI or (B) Arg at few micromolar concentrations.



Figure 4.9. Tau N toxicity effect on SH-SY5Y cells. A) Tau N alone B) Tau N with 200 nM PEI C) Tau N with 2 μ M Arg. * p < 0.05. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

Here we show that cationic polymers have the capability to inhibit tau mutant fibrillization *in vitro*. It is widely known that microtubules and polyanions contribute to the neurofibrillary tangle formation [21, 22], and glycosaminoglycans, which are anionic in nature, believed to play a key role in the tau aggregation [23, 24]. Hence, by interacting with the glycosaminoglycan heparin that is used in the study, the cationic PEI and Arg could have prevented the tau peptides and protein aggregation. Previously, it has been reported that several cationic small molecule compounds such as, cyanine, phenothiazine, and arylmethine in micromolar concentrations, exhibited inhibitory effects by interacting with the nucleation process mediated by the tau peptides [16]. Another recent study report the inhibitory effect of urea, a cationic osmolyte on tau fibrillization [8]. These studies further indicate the influence of cationic molecules on tau aggregation inhibition, and the current study would provide new insights and future investigation on the influence of cationic macromolecules on tau aggregation.

4.5 Conclusion

The cationic polymers PEI and Arg, exhibited inhibitory effects on tau peptides, and protein aggregation *in vitro*, and could aid in understanding the mechanism of tau aggregation inhibitory process. Further, they could to be used as drug carriers for treating tau aggregation. PEI and Arg have shown potential in gene delivery [25-28], and hence could be used in Alzheimer's gene therapy. Arg is also known for its cell penetrating capabilities [29, 30], and could be used as a drug depot for effective intracellular delivery of therapies for tau aggregation, which is mainly observed inside the cells [4, 19]. From this proof of concept study, we show that the cationic polymeric compounds may serve as potential inhibitors for tau peptide aggregation, and could be applied to study the mechanism of tau protein aggregation.

4.6 Acknowledgment

We would like to thank the University of Michigan Dearborn department of Mechanical engineering, and the College of Engineering and Computer Science for funding. We would like to thank the University of Michigan Microscope and Imaging (MIL) facility for the use of TEM microscope.

4.7 References

1. Kolarova, M., Garcia-Sierra, F., Bartos, A., Ricny, J. & Ripova, D. (2012) Structure and pathology of tau protein in Alzheimer disease, *Int J Alzheimers Dis.* **2012**, 731526.

2. von Bergen, M., Barghorn, S., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E. M. & Mandelkow, E. (2005) Tau aggregation is driven by a transition from random coil to beta sheet structure, *Biochim Biophys Acta*. **1739**, 158-166.

3. Pooler, A. M., Polydoro, M., Wegmann, S., Nicholls, S. B., Spires-Jones, T. L. & Hyman, B. T. (2013) Propagation of tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease: identification of novel therapeutic targets, *Alzheimers Res Ther.* **5**, 49.

4. Mohamed, N. V., Herrou, T., Plouffe, V., Piperno, N. & Leclerc, N. (2013) Spreading of tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease by cell-to-cell transmission, *Eur J Neurosci.* **37**, 1939-1948.

5. Mandelkow, E., von Bergen, M., Biernat, J. & Mandelkow, E. M. (2007) Structural principles of tau and the paired helical filaments of Alzheimer's disease, *Brain Pathol.* **17**, 83-90.

6. Li, W. & Lee, V. M. (2006) Characterization of two VQIXXK motifs for tau fibrillization in vitro, *Biochemistry*. **45**, 15692-156701.

7. Goux, W. J., Kopplin, L., Nguyen, A. D., Leak, K., Rutkofsky, M., Shanmuganandam, V. D., Sharma, D., Inouye, H. & Kirschner, D. A. (2004) The formation of straight and twisted filaments from short tau peptides, *J Biol Chem.* **279**, 26868-26875.

8. Eschmann, N. A., Do, T. D., LaPointe, N. E., Shea, J. E., Feinstein, S. C., Bowers, M. T. & Han, S. (2015) Tau Aggregation Propensity Engrained in Its Solution State, *J Phys Chem B*. **119**, 14421-14432.

9. Boutajangout, A. & Wisniewski, T. (2014) Tau-based therapeutic approaches for Alzheimer's disease - a mini-review, *Gerontology*. **60**, 381-385.

10. Brunden, K. R., Ballatore, C., Crowe, A., Smith, A. B., 3rd, Lee, V. M. & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010) Tau-directed drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease and related tauopathies: a focus on tau assembly inhibitors, *Exp Neurol.* **223**, 304-310.

11. Mohamed, T., Hoang, T., Jelokhani-Niaraki, M. & Rao, P. P. (2013) Tau-derivedhexapeptide 306VQIVYK311 aggregation inhibitors: nitrocatechol moiety as a pharmacophore in drug design, *ACS Chem Neurosci.* **4**, 1559-1570.

12. Mohamed, T. & Rao, P. P. (2011) Alzheimer's disease: emerging trends in small molecule therapies, *Curr Med Chem.* **18**, 4299-4320.

13. Dammers, C., Yolcu, D., Kukuk, L., Willbold, D., Pickhardt, M., Mandelkow, E., Horn, A. H., Sticht, H., Malhis, M. N., Will, N., Schuster, J. & Funke, S. A. (2016) Selection and Characterization of Tau Binding -Enantiomeric Peptides with Potential for Therapy of Alzheimer Disease, *PLoS One.* **11**, e0167432.

14. Matsuoka, Y., Jouroukhin, Y., Gray, A. J., Ma, L., Hirata-Fukae, C., Li, H. F., Feng, L., Lecanu, L., Walker, B. R., Planel, E., Arancio, O., Gozes, I. & Aisen, P. S. (2008) A neuronal microtubule-interacting agent, NAPVSIPQ, reduces tau pathology and enhances cognitive function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* **325**, 146-153.

15. Sievers, S. A., Karanicolas, J., Chang, H. W., Zhao, A., Jiang, L., Zirafi, O., Stevens, J. T., Munch, J., Baker, D. & Eisenberg, D. (2011) Structure-based design of non-natural amino-acid inhibitors of amyloid fibril formation, *Nature*. **475**, 96-100.

16. Schafer, K. N., Cisek, K., Huseby, C. J., Chang, E. & Kuret, J. (2013) Structural determinants of Tau aggregation inhibitor potency, *J Biol Chem.* **288**, 32599-32611.

 Levine, Z. A., Larini, L., LaPointe, N. E., Feinstein, S. C. & Shea, J. E. (2015) Regulation and aggregation of intrinsically disordered peptides, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 112, 2758-2763.
Lewis, J., McGowan, E., Rockwood, J., Melrose, H., Nacharaju, P., Van Slegtenhorst, M., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Paul Murphy, M., Baker, M., Yu, X., Duff, K., Hardy, J., Corral, A., Lin, W. L., Yen, S. H., Dickson, D. W., Davies, P. & Hutton, M. (2000) Neurofibrillary tangles, amyotrophy and progressive motor disturbance in mice expressing mutant (P301L) tau protein, *Nat Genet.* 25, 402-405.

19. Mirra, S. S., Murrell, J. R., Gearing, M., Spillantini, M. G., Goedert, M., Crowther, R. A., Levey, A. I., Jones, R., Green, J., Shoffner, J. M., Wainer, B. H., Schmidt, M. L., Trojanowski, J. Q. & Ghetti, B. (1999) Tau pathology in a family with dementia and a P301L mutation in tau, *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* **58**, 335-345.

20. Schlachetzki, J. C., Saliba, S. W. & Oliveira, A. C. (2013) Studying neurodegenerative diseases in culture models, *Rev Bras Psiquiatr.* **35 Suppl 2**, S92-100.

21. Mukrasch, M. D., Biernat, J., von Bergen, M., Griesinger, C., Mandelkow, E. & Zweckstetter, M. (2005) Sites of tau important for aggregation populate {beta}-structure and bind to microtubules and polyanions, *J Biol Chem.* **280**, 24978-24986.

22. Barghorn, S. & Mandelkow, E. (2002) Toward a unified scheme for the aggregation of tau into Alzheimer paired helical filaments, *Biochemistry*. **41**, 14885-14896.

23. Paudel, H. K. & Li, W. (1999) Heparin-induced conformational change in microtubuleassociated protein Tau as detected by chemical cross-linking and phosphopeptide mapping, *J Biol Chem.* **274**, 8029-8038.

24. Papy-Garcia, D., Christophe, M., Huynh, M. B., Fernando, S., Ludmilla, S., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E. & Raisman-Vozari, R. (2011) Glycosaminoglycans, protein aggregation and neurodegeneration, *Curr Protein Pept Sci.* **12**, 258-268.

25. Pandey, A. P. & Sawant, K. K. (2016) Polyethylenimine: A versatile, multifunctional nonviral vector for nucleic acid delivery, *Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl.* **68**, 904-918. 26. Wang, X., Niu, D., Hu, C. & Li, P. (2015) Polyethyleneimine-Based Nanocarriers for Gene Delivery, *Curr Pharm Des.* **21**, 6140-6156.

27. Morris, V. B. & Labhasetwar, V. (2015) Arginine-rich polyplexes for gene delivery to neuronal cells, *Biomaterials*. **60**, 151-60.

28. Tung, C. H. & Weissleder, R. (2003) Arginine containing peptides as delivery vectors, *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* **55**, 281-294.

29. Takeuchi, T. & Futaki, S. (2016) Current Understanding of Direct Translocation of Arginine-Rich Cell-Penetrating Peptides and Its Internalization Mechanisms, *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo).* **64**, 1431-1437.

30. Schmidt, N., Mishra, A., Lai, G. H. & Wong, G. C. (2010) Arginine-rich cell-penetrating peptides, *FEBS letters*. **584**, 1806-1813.

Chapter 5: Role of extracellular enzymes in Alzheimer's peptides aggregation

5.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease is characterized by senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in the brain tissue [1-4]. Several extracellular matrix factors play a role in promoting and stabilizing abeta and tau aggregation [5-8]. Among them extracellular enzymes are one of the key constituents found co-localized with abeta and tau aggregates [6, 8]. Extracellular enzymes transglutaminase (TG), and lysyl oxidase (LOX) are known to crosslink the extracellular matrix and modulate the ECM during diseases [6, 8, 9]. Recent studies report that both TG, and LOX have been observed in Alzheimer's disease brain tissues [9-12]. Transglutaminase is believed to contribute to Alzheimer's pathology by either directly binding to abeta and tau, or modulating the protein aggregation cascade and neurotoxicity by crosslinking the ECM [13, 14]. The result is the production of neurotoxic and protease resistant abeta and tau. Lysyl oxidase, which is known to play a major role in collagen crosslinking also believe to contribute to abeta pathology in a similar manner [9].

Here in this chapter, we study the effect of extracellular enzymes transglutaminase and LOX peptide on the aggregation of A β (1-42) and tau peptide (VQIVYK) that are found predominantly in Alzheimer's disease patients. In addition, we study the potential of natural antioxidants betaine and l-proline in inhibiting transglutaminase and lysyl oxidase mediated aggregation and

fibrillization. Proline and betaine are known to influence protein solvation, prevent aggregation and misfolding [15]. Further, recently it has been shown they have inhibitory potential on human serum albumin, and insulin aggregation/fibril formation [16, 17]. Hence, they could have inhibitory effect on extracellular enzyme mediated abeta and tau aggregation. The studies were carried out using thioflavin T (ThT), atomic force microscopy (AFM), cell toxicity assay (XTT), and oxidative stress assays. The results show that transglutaminase (TG), and lysyl oxidase peptide (LOX) promote the aggregation and fibrillization of A β (1-42), and oxidative stress. Further, betaine (B) and l-proline (LP) inhibited the effect of TG and LOX induced A β (1-42) fibrillization, and oxidative stress. However, at the tested conditions, tau peptide aggregation was not promoted in the presence of transglutaminase or lysyl oxidase.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Materials

Abeta peptide (1-42), ultra-pure (1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP) treated), is purchased from rPeptide. Tau peptides were custom synthesized from Genscript. Transglutaminase (TG) was purchased from either modernized pantry LLC or Ajinomoto. Human Lysyl oxidase peptide (LOX- (EDTSCDYGYHRRFA)) was custom synthesized from Genscript. L-proline (LP) and betaine (B), and all other chemicals were purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

5.2.2 Stock Solutions Preparation

1mg of Beta-Amyloid (1-42) was dissolved in 500 μ l HFIP. Then, the solution was aliquoted into ten vials (100 μ g/vial), and was kept in a chemical hood for complete evaporation of HFIP overnight. One vial of A β (1-42) was dissolved in 500 μ l HCl (10mM) and 10 μ l of DMSO to get a final concentration of 48 μ M (stock). For transglutaminase (TG) 5% of solution was freshly prepared by dissolving 50mg/ml in water. Betaine (B) and L-proline (LP) were dissolved in HCl (10mM) and DMSO to a final concentration of 10M (stock). Tau peptides stocks (1mM) were prepared by dissolving in water.

5.2.3 ThT Fluorescence Measurement

For the aggregation study, 3.2 mg/ml concentration of Tht was prepared in Tris buffer, pH 8. For Tht measurement, 50µl of 48µM A β (1-42), 1.1 µl of 5%, 2.5% or 1% TG or 1.25 ul or 2.5 ul of 10 mM LOX, and 0.5ul of 10M B or LP were dissolved in HCl (10mM) and 2% DMSO to make the final working solution. The samples were kept to aggregate for 24 hours in an incubator at 37°C. For the tau peptides aggregation, 10 µl of peptide was dissolved in 10 µl ThS, and MOPS buffer with or without TG or LOX to make the final 100 µl working solution. Spectramax M3 spectrophotometer was used to measure the Tht fluorescence at 440/482 nm excitation/emission. Abeta aggregation end points were measured at 24, and 48 hours. Tau aggregation was measured at 440/490 nm, every 2 minutes interval for 30 min. Three independent experiments were done, and the average readings were obtained.

5.2.4 AFM

AFM images were obtained using Hitachi AFM5100N in the lab. Abeta peptide was aggregated in the presence of TG or LOX, and with and without the small molecule drugs betaine and 1proline, similar to thioflavin t sample preparations. After 24 hours of incubation, 5μ l of the solutions were spotted on a freshly cleaved mica and kept to dry before imaging. Tapping mode was used to image the samples, and AFM tips (Nanosensor, CA), with a resonance frequency of 45-115 kHz was used. The average length and width of the cantilever is 225 and 28 micrometers, and the force constant of the tip is 0.5-9.5 N/m. A scan area of 1 x 1 or 5x 5 um is imaged for at least 2 different samples of each condition.

5.2.5 DCFH-DA assay

The effect of oxidative stress of abeta peptide, in the presence of extracellular enzymes, and small molecule drugs on human Brain Endothelial Cells (hBMVEC) was studied by DCFH-DA assay. Quantifying oxidative stress by 2,7-dichlorodihydrofluorescein (DCFH) based fluorescent probes has been widely reported [18, 19]. For the study, hBMVEC cells were used. The cells were kindly provided by Dr. Kalyan Kondapalli at UM-Dearborn, and were cultured in medium containing M-199, supplemented with 10% FBS, and 5% PenStrep according to the standard protocol. For this experiment, $2x10^4$ cells/well were cultured in a 96 well plate for 24 hours overnight. Cells were then treated with final concentrations of abeta peptide (2µM), TG (0.005%) or LOX (0.0005 %), and the small molecule osmolyte drugs (5mM), and subsequently were incubated for 48 hours. DCFH-DA assay fluorescence was performed at 485/535 nm, excitation and emission. Three independent DCFH-DA experiments were performed, and the average readings were obtained.

5.2.6 Cell toxicity assay

The toxicity of A β (1-42) fibrils in the presence of transglutaminase and drugs on human brain microvascular endothelial cells (hBMVEC) was studied by XTT assay. Cells were cultured at 2x10⁴ cells/well in a 96 well plate overnight. A β (1-42) was dissolved in 200 ul PBS and 0.6 ul ammonium hydroxide (20-30%) to a final concentration of around 19.2 μ M. For transglutaminase (TG) 10% solution was freshly prepared by dissolving 100 mg/mL in water, and Betaine (B) and L-proline (LP) were dissolved in water to get a final concentration of 10M. Cells were then treated with final concentrations of, abeta peptide (2 μ M), TG (0.005%), and with and without small molecule drugs (5 mM), and subsequently were incubated for 48 hours. The XTT assay was analyzed by the formazan production at 470 nm, using a M3 spectrophotometer according to the manufacturer's protocol.

5.2.7 Immunofluorescence

hBMVEC cells were cultured in 8 well chambers at 2×10^4 cell density, and abeta with and without extracellular enzymes, and osmolytes were added to the wells, similar to the XTT experimental conditions. Cells were then incubated for 48 hours. Immunostaining of ZO-1 (purchased from cell signaling technology) was performed following standard staining protocol. Immunofluorescence images of tight junctions were obtained using a Nikon A-1 spectral confocal microscope at the UM-Ann Arbor microscopy image analysis laboratory (MIL), and images were obtained for 2 different samples of each condition.

5.2.8 Statistical Analysis

In this study, each experiment was conducted three or more times, and they are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). P-values were determined from the results of at least 3-independent experiments. Statistical significance was computed using analysis of variance (ANOVA), and Tukey's HSD post-hoc analysis test was performed. **p< 0.01, and *p<0.05 were considered as significance.

5.3 Results and Discussion

First in this chapter study, we tested whether TG and LOX promote aggregation of the peptides. The aggregation studies were analyzed by thioflavin T, thioflavin S, and AFM measurements. The thioflavin T measurements of abeta aggregation show that the both TG and LOX significantly promote abeta aggregation (Figure 5.1 A, B). On the other hand, no significant aggregation was observed with tau peptides treated with TG or LOX (Figure 5.2 A, B). Since abeta exhibited significance aggregation in the presence of TG and LOX, we focused our rest of the study on abeta. We then tested the effect of 1-proline and betaine on abeta aggregation in the presence of TG or

LOX. The thiolfavin-T measurements reveal, inhibition of TG and LOX mediated aggregation in the presence of B and LP (Figure 5.3A, B). AFM images corroborate the findings. From Figure 5.4, it can be seen that TG and LOX promote fibrillar morphology of abeta. When aggregated in the presence of l-proline less fibril or aggregation was observed (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.1. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide aggregation. **A).** Abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.1%, 0.05%, and 0.01% transglutaminase **B).** Abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.01%, 0.005%, and 0.0025% of lysyl oxidase. ThT fluorescence measurements indicate that the abeta aggregation is promoted in the presence of extracellular enzymes. Data with significance compared to abeta is represented as **p<0.01.



Figure 5.2. Thioflavin-S fluorescence measurements of tau peptide aggregation kinetics. **A).** Tau peptide VQIVYK (100 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.1%, 0.05%, and 0.01% transglutaminase **B).** Tau peptide (100 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.01%, and 0.005% of lysyl oxidase. Ths fluorescence measurements indicate that the tau aggregation is not promoted in the presence of extracellular enzymes alone.



Figure 5.3. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide aggregation. A). Abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.1% transglutaminase and 5 mM of osmolytes l-proline and betaine B). Abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation in the presence of 0.01% of lysyl oxidase, and 5 mM of osmolytes l-proline or betaine. ThT fluorescence measurements indicate that the abeta aggregation is modulated by the presence of extracellular enzymes and osmolytes. Data with significance is represented as **p<0.01.



Figure 5.4. Morphology of abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation in the presence of TG, LOX, and osmolytes l-proline and betaine, imaged by atomic force microscopy. The images reveal abeta aggregation/fibrillization is promoted in the presence of TG and LOX, and inhibited in the presence of l-proline and betaine. Scale bar 100 nm.

Next oxidative stress measurements were performed to determine whether abeta, with and without the extracellular enzymes and small molecules exhibit oxidative stress. For the study human brain microvascular endothelial cells (hBMVEC) were used. First, we tested the effect of transglutaminase induced oxidative stress. As can be seen from Figure 5.5A, transglutaminase indeed promote oxidative stress of abeta aggregates. The oxidative stress effects were significantly inhibited in the presence of l-proline and betaine (Figure 5.5A). The oxidative stress measurements were then performed with lysyl oxidase treated samples. Cells treated with abeta and lysyl oxidase exhibited enhanced oxidative stress. When treated with the osmolytes significant inhibition in the oxidative stress was observed (Figure 5.5B).



Figure 5.5. Effect of abeta induced oxidative stress on hBMVEC with and without extracellular enzymes and small molecules A). Oxidative stress induced by Abeta peptide (2 μ M) in the presence of transglutaminase, and osmolytes 1-proline and betaine B). Oxidative stress induced by Abeta peptide (2 μ M) in the presence of lysyl oxidase peptide and osmolytes 1-proline and betaine. Oxidative stress is significantly reduced in the presence of osmolytes. Data with significance is represented as **p<0.01, *p< 0.05.

To assess whether abeta and extracellular enzymes play a role in blood brain barrier damage, we performed immunofluorescence staining of ZO-1. The cytoplasmic accessory protein ZO-1, under normal conditions distribute continuously around the cell membrane [20]. However, in the presence of abeta, it has been shown that the tight junctions were disrupted, and broken ZO-1 links were observed [20]. Similarly, in this study as can be seen from Figure 5.4, when the cells were treated with abeta or abeta with TG or LOX, the ZO-1 staining is diffused compared to the control cells without any treatment. Moreover, when the cells were co-treated with osmolytes betaine or l-proline, significant restoration of cell junctions were observed (Figure 5.6). This finding is in

corroboration with that of oxidative stress findings, where increased and decreased oxidative stress were observed in the presence of extracellular enzymes, and small molecule drugs.



Figure 5.6. Blood brain barrier damage induced by abeta peptide $(2 \ \mu M)$ aggregation in the presence of transglutaminase and osmolytes 1-proline and betaine, visualized by tight junction protein ZO-1. Tight junction is significantly restored in the presence of osmolytes. Scale bar 10 μm .

Finally, we tested the toxicity effects of abeta with and without extracellular enzymes and small osmolyte molecules. For the toxicity study we used human brain microvascular endothelial cells (hBMVEC). Cells were treated with abeta and combination of the enzymes and drugs for 48 hours, and XTT assay was performed. However, as can be seen from Figure 5.7, at the tested concentrations, no significant toxicity was observed with all the treatment combinations of abeta, extracellular enzymes, and small drug molecules.



Figure 5.7. Assessment of toxicity effect of abeta peptide aggregates $(2 \ \mu M)$ in the presence of transglutaminase (0.005%) and osmolytes (5 mM) in human brain microvascular endothelial cells. No significant difference in XTT absorbance is observed at the tested conditions.

5.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, we show that extracellular enzymes have the capability to influence the abeta peptides aggregation, fibrillization, and oxidative stress in vitro. As far as tau peptides aggregation is concerned, unlike glycosaminoglycans, which are known to promote tau aggregation significantly [21, 22], extracellular enzymes alone seem to be not enough to promote the aggregation. Extracellular enzymes have been shown to colocalize with amyloid plaques, and subsequently crosslink them and prevent them from degradation [9]. This in turn leads to excessive oxidative stress and neuronal death. In this study, we show, in the presence of osmolytes, the aggregation, and oxidative stress effects could be minimized. Hence, osmolytes could be applied to inhibit or prevent extracellular enzymes mediated abeta aggregation/fibrillization and oxidative stress, and mitigate potential long-term toxicity effects.
5.5 References

1. Bitan, G., Kirkitadze, M. D., Lomakin, A., Vollers, S. S., Benedek, G. B. & Teplow, D. B. (2003) Amyloid beta -protein (Abeta) assembly: Abeta 40 and Abeta 42 oligomerize through distinct pathways, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **100**, 330-5.

2. Drake, J., Link, C. D. & Butterfield, D. A. (2003) Oxidative stress precedes fibrillar deposition of Alzheimer's disease amyloid beta-peptide (1-42) in a transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans model, *Neurobiol Aging.* **24**, 415-20.

3. Chen, M. & Fernandez, H. L. (2001) Where do Alzheimer's plaques and tangles come from? Aging-induced protein degradation inefficiency, *Front Biosci.* **6**, E1-E11.

4. De-Paula, V. J., Radanovic, M., Diniz, B. S. & Forlenza, O. V. (2012) Alzheimer's disease, *Subcell Biochem.* **65**, 329-52.

5. Caceres, J. & Brandan, E. (1997) Interaction between Alzheimer's disease beta A4 precursor protein (APP) and the extracellular matrix: evidence for the participation of heparan sulfate proteoglycans, *J Cell Biochem.* **65**, 145-58.

6. Naylor, R., Hill, A. F. & Barnham, K. J. (2008) Neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease: is covalently crosslinked A beta responsible?, *Eur Biophys J.* **37**, 265-8.

7. Salza, R., Lethias, C. & Ricard-Blum, S. (2017) The Multimerization State of the Amyloidbeta42 Amyloid Peptide Governs its Interaction Network with the Extracellular Matrix, *J Alzheimers Dis.* **56**, 991-1005.

8. Wang, D. S., Dickson, D. W. & Malter, J. S. (2008) Tissue transglutaminase, protein crosslinking and Alzheimer's disease: review and views, *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* **1**, 5-18.

9. Wilhelmus, M. M., Bol, J. G., van Duinen, S. G. & Drukarch, B. (2013) Extracellular matrix modulator lysyl oxidase colocalizes with amyloid-beta pathology in Alzheimer's disease and hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis--Dutch type, *Exp Gerontol.* **48**, 109-14.

Johnson, G. V., Cox, T. M., Lockhart, J. P., Zinnerman, M. D., Miller, M. L. & Powers, R. E. (1997) Transglutaminase activity is increased in Alzheimer's disease brain, *Brain Res.* 751, 323-9.

Gilad, G. M., Kagan, H. M. & Gilad, V. H. (2005) Evidence for increased lysyl oxidase, the extracellular matrix-forming enzyme, in Alzheimer's disease brain, *Neurosci Lett.* **376**, 210-4.
de Jager, M., van der Wildt, B., Schul, E., Bol, J. G., van Duinen, S. G., Drukarch, B. &

Wilhelmus, M. M. (2013) Tissue transglutaminase colocalizes with extracellular matrix proteins in cerebral amyloid angiopathy, *Neurobiol Aging.* **34**, 1159-69.

13. Hartley, D. M., Zhao, C., Speier, A. C., Woodard, G. A., Li, S., Li, Z. & Walz, T. (2008) Transglutaminase induces protofibril-like amyloid beta-protein assemblies that are protease-resistant and inhibit long-term potentiation, *J Biol Chem.* **283**, 16790-800.

14. Tucholski, J., Kuret, J. & Johnson, G. V. (1999) Tau is modified by tissue transglutaminase in situ: possible functional and metabolic effects of polyamination, *J Neurochem.* **73**, 1871-80.

15. Paleg, L. G., Stewart, G. R. & Bradbeer, J. W. (1984) Proline and glycine betaine influence protein solvation, *Plant Physiol.* **75**, 974-8.

16. Choudhary, S., Kishore, N. & Hosur, R. V. (2015) Inhibition of insulin fibrillation by osmolytes: Mechanistic insights, *Sci Rep.* **5**, 17599.

17. Dasgupta, M. & Kishore, N. (2017) Selective inhibition of aggregation/fibrillation of bovine serum albumin by osmolytes: Mechanistic and energetics insights, *PLoS One.* **12**, e0172208.

18. Wang, H. & Joseph, J. A. (1999) Quantifying cellular oxidative stress by dichlorofluorescein assay using microplate reader, *Free Radic Biol Med.* **27**, 612-6.

19. Gomes, A., Fernandes, E. & Lima, J. L. (2005) Fluorescence probes used for detection of reactive oxygen species, *J Biochem Biophys Methods*. **65**, 45-80.

20. Marco, S. & Skaper, S. D. (2006) Amyloid beta-peptide1-42 alters tight junction protein distribution and expression in brain microvessel endothelial cells, *Neurosci Lett.* **401**, 219-24.

21. Paudel, H. K. & Li, W. (1999) Heparin-induced conformational change in microtubuleassociated protein Tau as detected by chemical cross-linking and phosphopeptide mapping, *J Biol Chem.* **274**, 8029-38.

22. Papy-Garcia, D., Christophe, M., Huynh, M. B., Fernando, S., Ludmilla, S., Sepulveda-Diaz, J. E. & Raisman-Vozari, R. (2011) Glycosaminoglycans, protein aggregation and neurodegeneration, *Curr Protein Pept Sci.* **12**, 258-68.

Chapter 6: Role of cerebral fluid proteins in abeta peptide aggregation

6.1 Introduction

During Alzheimer's disease, increase in abeta concentration has been shown to be present in the blood and in brain [1]. The large amount of abeta is believed to contribute to the disease either by crossing the blood brain barrier and facilitates aggregation formation in the brain or by preventing abeta clearance from the brain to the circulation. One way to prevent this large amount of abeta, is to sequester the excess abeta in the blood, and in the brain. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) proteins transferrin and human serum albumin has been shown to inhibit abeta aggregation. The proteins believed to bind to the abeta oligomer, and prevent abeta monomer binding to free abeta oligomers, and hence subsequent aggregation and plaque formation [2]. Hence there is growing interest in utilizing cerebral proteins to treat Alzheimer's. Hence a cerebral protein drug depot that can capture the excess abeta in the blood or in the brain could prevent unwanted abeta aggregation, oxidative stress, and subsequent cell toxicity leading to Alzheimer's disease.

Transferrin is a 79 kDa glycoprotein found in plasma, human serum, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and brain. Recent studies show that transferrin has protective role in abeta aggregation formation. Transferrin has been shown to bind the abeta oligomer preferentially, and prevent abeta oligomers nucleation and hence subsequent aggregation and plaque formation. In addition, transferrin is an iron transport protein that is used for iron homeostasis [3]. Abundant free ions have been also

known to induce toxic forms of abeta, promoting aggregation. Hence transferrin has major inhibitory role in preventing abeta toxicity. It was shown that any failure and malfunction in iron homeostasis will lead to neurotoxicity which will in turn lead to AD [3-6].

Another CSF protein that exhibit abeta protein aggregation inhibitory effects is human serum albumin. When AD patients treated with plasma replacements containing abeta-free human serum albumin, decreased abeta accumulations in the brain and cognitive impairment was observed. Further, HSA promoted neuronal survival by preventing amyloid entering into brain neurons. HSA binds to 90-95% of A β in blood plasma [7, 8]. The concentration of HSA was found to be higher in blood plasma (640 μ M) [9] compared to low concentration of HSA (3 μ M) in CSF [10]. This proves why A β plaques are found in the exterior space of the brain [11]. Normally, A β clearance mechanism is formed when A β bounds to albumin and then transported from brain into blood along A β concentration gradient [12, 13]. Also, it was shown that A β -albumin complexes decreased in blood, which showed that A β transport from brain to blood also decreased in AD patients [14].

In this chapter we study how HSA and transferrin proteins decrease A β (1-42) aggregation under different conditions. Free proteins or proteins coated on poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles to enhance their specificity in targeting A β , and to cross blood brain barrier (BBB) easily were used for the study. The aggregation studies were characterized using thioflavin T (ThT), atomic force microscopy (AFM), confocal microscope, and dynamic light scattering (DLS).

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Materials

Abeta peptide (1-42), ultra-pure (1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP) treated), was purchased from rPeptide. Transferrin (77-81 kDa), and Human Serum Albumin (66.4 kDa) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

6.2.2 Nanoparticles preparation

Standard emulsion method was used to prepare nanoparticles. Briefly, PLGA polymer was dissolved in ethyl acetate and emulsified with 1% PVA using probe sonicator. The emulsion was then stirred overnight until the solvent is evaporated. The particles were then centrifuged washed, and finally reconstituted in water and stored at 4°C until it is used. The particles were then surface coated with t Tf or HSA by using EDC/ NHS chemistry, using standard protocol. The amount of protein conjugated was then quantified using protein assay. Three different coating densities of Tf and HSA was achieved. For the Tf coated particles, the final concentrations of Tf in 5 mg/ml of PLGA particles were found to be of 3mg/ml (25 uM), or 30 ug/ml (250 nM) or 60 ug/ml (500 nM). For the HSA coated particles, the final concentrations of HSA in 5 mg/ml of PLGA particles were found to be of 2.5 mg/ml (25 uM), or 25 ug/ml (250 nM) or 50 ug/ml (500 nM).

6.2.3 ThT

A 3.2 mg/ml concentration of ThT was dissolved in Tris buffer (pH 8). For free Tf and HSA inhibitory studies, 45 μ M of A β (1-42) was aggregated with 5 or 10 μ M of Tf or HSA for 24 hours. For nanoparticle coated Tf samples, 20 μ l of 19 μ M A β (1-42) was added to 5 μ l of PBS buffer for 2 hours. Then, NP (water was added instead of proteins) and NP/ Tf and NP/HSA with Tf or HSA concentrations of (5 μ M, 50 nM, 100 nM) or 5 μ M of free Tf or HSA were

67

added and aggregated for 24 hours at 37°C. Three independent experiments were performed, and ThT fluorescence was measured using Spectramax M3 spectrometer at 440/482 nm fluorescence endpoint.

6.2.4 DLS

The size of the aggregated samples was measured using a Malven zetasizer instrument in the lab. The same sample conditions used for the ThT measurements were used for the DLS study. Also, the size of NP, NP/ Tf, and NP/HSA, were measured for NP size characterization. Three independent size measurement experiments were performed.

6.2.5 AFM

HITACHI AFM 5100N in lab was used. The AFM tip (Nanosensors, CA) was used for the imaging. Images were performed in tapping mode, with force constant is 0.5-9.5 N/m, resonance frequency 45-115 KHz, average length is 225 μ m, and the average width is 28 μ m. Some of the ThT samples were sonicated and 1 μ l of the solutions were spotted on mica. Then, the samples were imaged after drying. Also, nanoparticles were imaged using the tapping mode, and the size of the particles was determined. All sample conditions were imaged three times at a scan area of 6x6 μ m.

6.2.6 Nanoparticle binding assay

Samples were prepared to similar protocol used for the ThT measurements. Then the samples were centrifuged, and the supernatant were imaged by confocal microscope, to assess the abeta aggregation in solution. Confocal images were performed with Leica confocal microscope in the department (funded by NSF-MRI grant to Dr. Gargi Ghosh (PI)).

6.3 Results and discussion

First, we tested the ability of transferrin and human serum albumin on inhibiting abeta peptide aggregation. For that, we tested the aggregation of abeta peptide with and without t Tf and HSA by thioflavin assay. As can be seen from the tht measurements in Figure 6.1, the CSF proteins were able to inhibit the aggregation of abeta peptide. We further confirmed this by testing the aggregation size by DLS. In the presence of Tf or HSA, the aggregation was significantly reduced (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.1. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation with and without Tf and HSA. The ThT measurements indicate the inhibitory potential of Tf and HSA.



Figure 6.2. DLS measurements show the size of abeta peptide (45 μ M) aggregation with and without Tf and HSA (10 μ M) concentrations.

We then used nanotechnology to deliver Tf and HSA to test their ability to capture abeta in solution and to prevent aggregation. Nanoparticles have the ability to deliver the proteins with increased therapeutic efficacy compared to systemic delivery. Further, they can increase the circulation of the proteins in the blood. Moreover, the technology could be applied to capture abeta in the blood or in the brain parenchyma to reduce the monomeric and oligomeric abeta, and to prevent aggregation. First, we produced PLGA nanoparticles with around 200 nm using standard emulsion technique, and subsequently surface coated with and HSA proteins. We calculated the amount of the coating by protein assay. The nanoparticle size and morphology were characterized by TEM and DLS. Particles around 200 nm size were obtained. The coating of Tf and HSA did not significantly increase the size of the particles (Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3. Nanoparticle characterization (A) PLGA nanoparticle morphology observed by AFM. (B) Surface coating of PLGA nanoparticles with Tf or HSA, and size characterization by DLS. Scale bar 500nm.

We then tested the potential of the particles in abeta aggregation inhibition by thioflavin-T. We tested different Tf and HSA coating amounts on abeta aggregation. From the studies, we found that when coated with 100 nM of Tf and HSA, the aggregation of the abeta is inhibited (Figure 6.4). The aggregation inhibition was further studied with confocal microscopy, and AFM. Abeta aggregation was labeled with ThT, and the amount of abeta in the supernatant after 24 hours' is observed by confocal microscopy. As can be seen from the images, the abeta alone samples increase the amount of ThT fluorescence in the supernatant compared to coated nanoparticles, indicating most of the abeta could be bound to Tf /HSA coated nanoparticles (Figure 6.5). The supernatant of nanoparticles showed less aggregated size, indicating inhibition. The AFM images corroborate the findings, where more bound abeta aggregates in the coated nanoparticles compared to nanoparticles alone where scattered aggregation can be observed (Figure 6.6).



Figure 6.4. Thioflavin-T fluorescence measurements of abeta peptide (15uM) aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated nanoparticles.



Figure 6.5. Confocal images of the supernatant of the abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated NP.



Abeta-NP

Abeta-NP/Tf

Abeta-NP/HSA



Figure 6.6. AFM images of abeta peptide aggregation with and without Tf and HSA coated nanoparticles ted nanoparticles. Scale bar 500 nm.

6.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, we show that transferrin, and human serum albumin coated nanoparticles bind abeta, and significantly prevented abeta aggregation. Further, the amount of abeta in solution is significantly reduced in nanoparticles coated samples. Hence, nanoformulated cerebral proteins could be applied to reduce the amount of abeta in AD patients. Further, they could be further modified to successfully cross the blood barrier and capture the unwanted abeta in the brain, and could have potential as a nanotherapeutic approach for treating Alzheimer's disease.

6.5 Reference

1. Deane, R., Bell, R. D., Sagare, A. & Zlokovic, B. V. (2009) Clearance of amyloid-beta peptide across the blood-brain barrier: implication for therapies in Alzheimer's disease, *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*. **8**, 16-30.

2. Raditsis, A. V., Milojevic, J. & Melacini, G. (2013) Abeta association inhibition by transferrin, *Biophys J.* **105**, 473-80.

3. Hare, D. J., Doecke, J. D., Faux, N. G., Rembach, A., Volitakis, I., Fowler, C. J., Grimm, R., Doble, P. A., Cherny, R. A., Masters, C. L., Bush, A. I. & Roberts, B. R. (2015) Decreased plasma iron in Alzheimer's disease is due to transferrin desaturation, *ACS Chem Neurosci.* **6**, 398-402.

4. Zecca, L., Youdim, M. B., Riederer, P., Connor, J. R. & Crichton, R. R. (2004) Iron, brain ageing and neurodegenerative disorders, *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **5**, 863-73.

5. Ward, R. J., Zucca, F. A., Duyn, J. H., Crichton, R. R. & Zecca, L. (2014) The role of iron in brain ageing and neurodegenerative disorders, *Lancet Neurol.* **13**, 1045-60.

6. Hare, D., Ayton, S., Bush, A. & Lei, P. (2013) A delicate balance: Iron metabolism and diseases of the brain, *Front Aging Neurosci.* **5**, 34.

7. Biere, A. L., Ostaszewski, B., Stimson, E. R., Hyman, B. T., Maggio, J. E. & Selkoe, D. J. (1996) Amyloid beta-peptide is transported on lipoproteins and albumin in human plasma, *J Biol Chem.* **271**, 32916-22.

8. Kuo, Y. M., Kokjohn, T. A., Watson, M. D., Woods, A. S., Cotter, R. J., Sue, L. I., Kalback, W. M., Emmerling, M. R., Beach, T. G. & Roher, A. E. (2000) Elevated abeta42 in skeletal muscle of Alzheimer disease patients suggests peripheral alterations of AbetaPP metabolism, *Am J Pathol.* **156**, 797-805.

9. Carter, D. C. & Ho, J. X. (1994) Structure of serum albumin, Adv Protein Chem. 45, 153-203.

10. Stevens, R. W., Elmendorf, D., Gourlay, M., Stroebel, E. & Gaafar, H. A. (1979) Application of fluoroimmunoassay to cerebrospinal fluid immunoglobulin G and albumin, *J Clin Microbiol.* **10**, 346-50.

11. Stanyon, H. F. & Viles, J. H. (2012) Human serum albumin can regulate amyloid-beta peptide fiber growth in the brain interstitium: implications for Alzheimer disease, *J Biol Chem.* **287**, 28163-8.

DeMattos, R. B., Bales, K. R., Cummins, D. J., Dodart, J. C., Paul, S. M. & Holtzman, D. M. (2001) Peripheral anti-A beta antibody alters CNS and plasma A beta clearance and decreases brain A beta burden in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98, 8850-5.

13. DeMattos, R. B., Bales, K. R., Cummins, D. J., Paul, S. M. & Holtzman, D. M. (2002) Brain to plasma amyloid-beta efflux: a measure of brain amyloid burden in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, *Science*. **295**, 2264-7.

14. Yamamoto, K., Shimada, H., Koh, H., Ataka, S. & Miki, T. (2014) Serum levels of albuminamyloid beta complexes are decreased in Alzheimer's disease, *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 14, 716-23.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

7.1. General Conclusions

Although several studies have been reported on understanding the biomolecule cues associated with Alzheimer's disease, the role of extracellular biomolecules in Alzheimer's causing peptides aggregation and potential novel drug targets studied in this thesis, hasn't been explored in detail. In this thesis study, the role of glycosaminoglycans, extracellular enzymes, and cerebral proteins in Alzheimer's causing peptides abeta peptide, and tau peptide aggregation has been studied in detail. Thioflavin-T, TEM, AFM, DLS, and cellular characterization methods were used to study the aggregation process. The thesis study shows that glycosaminoglycans promote the aggregation and toxicity of tau peptides, and the effects could be mitigated by the application of cationic polymers, polyethyleneimine and polyarginine. Extracellular enzymes transglutaminase and lysyl oxidase on the other hand, promoted the aggregation and oxidative stress of abeta peptides, and small molecule osmolytes l-proline and betaine show potential in inhibiting the aggregation of the abeta peptides. In addition, the thesis study reveals that the abeta aggregation process could be inhibited by cerebral proteins transferrin, and human serum albumin nanoformulations.

7.2. Future directions

This thesis studies the role of biomolecule cues and their inhibition by potential drug candidates in detail. However, the mechanism of action of the inhibitory drugs on peptide aggregation in the presence of biomolecules has yet to be studied. Further, the major challenge in Alzheimer's drug delivery is the blood brain barrier (BBB). Hence, the potential drug molecules identified in this thesis and in the literature could be nanoformulated to cross the BBB effectively, and target the affected region for effective drug delivery. The detailed characterization, and mechanism of action of the nanoformulation needs to be studied in vitro. Finally, the effective nanoformulations could be tested in vivo, in Alzheimer's disease model to realize its effectiveness.